
 

Page 1 of 483 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, DECEMBER 03, 2018 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of November 19, 2018. 

Agenda Revisions 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

2. Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the Mayor Pro Tem and Chair 
of the Administration Committee for 2019. 

3. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Susan deBuhr, Board of Appeals, Boards of Electrical, Mechanical & Plumbing Appeals, terms 
ending 12/31/2019. 
b) Rick Dumler, Board of Electrical Appeals, term ending 12/31/2022.  
c) Steve Broell, Board of Mechanical Appeals, term ending 12/31/2022.  
d) Todd Gebhardt, Board of Plumbing Appeals, term ending 12/31/2022.  
e) Helen Pearce, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2020.  
f) Lindsay Pieters, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2020.  
g) Don Timmerman, Housing Commission, term ending 12/31/2020. 
h) Kyle Larson, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2023. 

4. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of November 19, 2018 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Planning & Zoning Commission Interview - Kyle Larson.  
b) Greater Cedar Valley Alliance Update. 
c) FY2018 Audit Report. 
d) Bills & Payroll. 

5. Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of November 19, 2018. 

6. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of October 2018. 

7. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a certified list for the 
position of Public Safety Officer. 

8. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
a) Cedar Falls Woman's Club, 304 Clay Street, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
b) Rancho Chico, 618 Brandilynn Boulevard #104, Class C Liquor - renewal. 
c) Sharky's Fun House, 2223 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) The Brown Bottle, 1111 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
e) Urban Pie, 200 State Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

1



 

Page 2 of 483 

f) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Barmuda Distribution, 6027 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 
 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

9. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed and Flood Mitigation Deed Restriction, in 
Conjunction with the Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program. 

10. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of eleven leases relative to property vacated by the 
2008 flood buyout programs. 

11. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an agreement with Waterloo-Cedar Falls Umpires 
Association relative to the provisions of umpiring services for the 2019-2021 seasons. 

12. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for the Use of the State or Local 
Overtime and Authorized Expense/Strategic Initiative Program for Organized Crime Drug 
Enforcement Task Forces (OCDETF) for FY2019. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of five Owner Purchase Agreements and three 
Tenant Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting two Public Utility Easements and four 
Owner's Temporary Grading Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction 
Project. 

14. Approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Vieth Construction Corporation for 
the 2017 Permeable Alley Project. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing Change Order No. 3 to the contract with Iowa Bridge & 
Culvert, LC for the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with 
Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. for the Lakeshore Storm Sewer Analysis. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Easement Agreement with Hi Yield, LLC and 
DBD Investments, LLC for installation and maintenance of a private sanitary sewer connection for 
924 Viking Road. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with Six Kids, LLC relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan for 1402 
Technology Parkway. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with ACOH, LLC relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan for 6601 
Development Drive.   

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Change of Work Order No. 3 to the contract 
with Peterson Contractors, Inc. relative to the 2018 Street Construction Project. 

21. Resolution approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District site plan for façade 
improvements at 209 State Street. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Proposal for Asbestos Removal and Proposed 
Form of Contract with Advanced Environmental Testing and Abatement, in conjunction with the 
Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program. 

23. Resolution approving a PC-2, Planned Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
retail/professional office building at 936 Viking Road. 

2



 

Page 3 of 483 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning District 
Development Agreement with VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., Mills Properties, LLC, and Midland Atlantic 
Development Company, LLC relative to a commercial development in the southwest corner of 
Highway 58 and West Ridgeway Avenue. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. relative to engineering services. 
 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

26. Allow Bills and Payroll of December 3, 2018. 

City Council Referrals 

27. Refer to the Committee of the Whole a request for preparation of a proposal and timeline for creation 
of a Five-Year Public Safety Strategic Plan, to be adopted no later than December 2, 2019. 

City Council Updates 

Executive Session 

28. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably 
expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce 
the price the governmental body would receive for that property, following Public Forum. 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, NOVEMBER 19, 2018 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Absent: None. 

 
52097 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Blanford that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of November 5, 2018 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52098 -  Public Safety Services Director Olson provided introductions and Mayor Brown 

proceeded with the Administration of Oath to new Public Safety Officers Austin 
Lechtenberg and Scott Dougan. 

 
52099 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2934, amending 

Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property located at the 
north end of Lakeshore Drive from A-1, Agricultural District, and placing the same 
in R-1, Residence District, be passed upon its third and final consideration. The 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, 
Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#2934 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52100 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Wieland that Resolution #21,335, 

approving the preliminary plat of Park Ridge Estates Subdivision, be adopted. 
Following comments and questions by James Hancock, 821 Lakeshore Drive, 
Tamie Stahl, 1009 Lakeshore Drive, and Councilmembers Kruse, Green, Miller, 
deBuhr, Darrah and Wieland, and responses by Community Development 
Director Sheetz, City Administrator Gaines and City Engineer Resler and 
Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on the motion 
and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Abstain: Miller. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,335 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
52101 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Blanford that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the following resignations:  
(a) Joni Krejchi, Art & Culture Board.  
(b) Steven Schofield, Visitors & Tourism Board. 
 
Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions:  

4



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

(a) Kendra Wohlert, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2021.  
(b) Meridith Main, Historic Preservation Commission, term ending 03/31/2020. 
 
Approve a request for street closures for Holiday Hoopla on November 23, 2018. 
Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
(a) Fareway Store, 4500 South Main Street.  
(b) Five Corners Liquor & Wine, 809 East 18th Street. 

 
 Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
  (a) Hansen's Dairy, 123 East 18th Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - 

renewal.  
 (b) Famous Dave's, 6222 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal.  
 (c) Fareway Store, 4500 South Main Street, Class E liquor - new.  
 (d) Five Corners Liquor & Wine, 809 East 18th Street, Class E liquor - new. 
 

Motion carried unanimously. 
 
52102 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Wieland that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,336, approving and adopting Summary Plan Descriptions for the 
City of Cedar Falls Employee Health Benefit Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,337, approving and adopting Summary Plan Description for the 
City of Cedar Falls Employee Dental Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,338, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
mow the property located at 2208 Coventry Lane. 
 
Resolution #21,339, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
mow and clear vegetation on the property located at 2013 Maplewood Drive. 
 
Resolution #21,340, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 
mow the property located at the northeast corner of Lincoln and Greeley Streets. 
 
Resolution #21,341, approving and authorizing execution of an agreement with 
CivicPlus for the City's new custom mobile app. 
 
Resolution #21,342, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Development of a Strategic Plan for the Cedar Falls Tourism and Visitors Bureau 
with the University of Northern Iowa Institute of Decision Making. 
 
Resolution #21,343, approving and authorizing execution of five Owner Purchase 
Agreements and eight Tenant Purchase Agreements, and approving and 
accepting five Public Utility Easements and five Owner's Temporary Grading 
Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,344, approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District 
site plan for renovations at 312 Main Street. 

5



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 
Resolution #21,345, approving a College Hill Neighborhood District Overlay 
Zoning District site plan for facade improvements at 917 West 23rd Street. 
 
Resolution #21,346, approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real 
Estate and Acceptance for 73.65 acres, more or less, of real estate owned by 
Artesian Earthworks, L.L.C. relative to expansion of the West Viking Road 
Industrial Park. 
 
Resolution #21,347, approving a Business/Research (BR) Zoning District site 
plan for construction of an office building on Lot 21 of Cedar Falls Technology 
Park, Phase II. 
 
Resolution #21,348, setting November 27, 2018 as the date of consultation and 
December 17, 2018 as the date of public hearing on a proposed Amendment No. 
5 to the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,349, setting November 27, 2018 as the date of consultation and 
December 17, 2018 as the date of public hearing on a proposed Amendment No. 
5 to the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,336 through #21,349 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52103 -   It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #21,350, 

approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with 
Foth Infrastructure and Environment, LLC relative to the Ridgeway Avenue 
Reconstruction Project, be adopted. Following questions by Councilmember 
deBuhr and responses by Community Development Director Sheetz, the Mayor 
put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,350 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
52104 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Blanford that the bills and payroll be 

allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be authorized to 
issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in payment of 
the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried.  

 
52105 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse to adjourn to Executive Session 

to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could 
be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have 
to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive 

6



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

for that property, following Public Forum. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52106 -  Mayor Brown read a statement in response to a request for a Public Forum to 

discuss the Public Safety Officer (PSO) program. 
 
     Finance and Business Operation Director Rodenbeck and Public Safety Services 

Director Olson responded to questions and comments by Tracie Sulentic, 1008 
Rocklyn Street, regarding the City’s general fund and Insurance Service Office 
(ISO) rating.  

 
 The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 7:32 P.M. 
 

Mayor Brown reconvened the Council Meeting at 7:41 P.M. and stated that 
Property Acquisition had been discussed but that no further action was required at 
this time. 

  
52107 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 

7:42 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

7



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: November 27, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Mayor Pro Tem & Administration Committee Chair Appointment 

 
 
For 2019, I am officially appointing Tom Blanford as Mayor Pro Tem and Susan deBuhr 
as Chair of the Administration Committee. 

8



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: November 29, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Appointments & Reappointments 

 

I am recommending the following appointments/reappointments: 

 

Name: Board/Commission: Term Ending: 
   
Susan deBuhr Board of Appeals, Boards of Electrical, Mechanical & 

Plumbing Appeals (reappointment) 
12/31/2019 

   
Rick Dumler Board of Electrical Appeals (reappointment)  12/31/2022 
   
Steve Broell Board of Mechanical Appeals (reappointment) 12/31/2022 
   
Todd Gebhardt Board of Plumbing Appeals (reappointment) 12/31/2022 
   
Helen Pearce Housing Commission (reappointment) 12/31/2020 
Lindsay Pieters Housing Commission (reappointment) 12/31/2020 
Don Timmerman Housing Commission (reappointment) 12/31/2020 
   
Kyle Larson Planning & Zoning Commission (replaces Brian Arntson) 11/01/2023 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 

 
 

9



10



11



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

November 19, 2018 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:05 p.m. on November 
19, 2018, with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom 
Blanford, Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David 
Wieland.  Staff members attended from all City Departments. Tom Nelson with the 
Waterloo Courier, Eric Johnson, Lisa Skubal, Cary Darrah and Cassie Grimsman from 
Great Cedar Valley Alliance and Chamber (GCVAC), Kyle Larson, and other members 
of the community attended.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Planning & Zoning Commission Interview of Kyle Larson.  Mr. Larson stated he is 
vested in the community and grew up here.  A brief discussion was held. 

Mayor Brown introduced the second item on the agenda Great Cedar Valley Alliance 
Update.  Eric Johnson, Chair of Greater Cedar Valley Alliance thanked the council and 
city for their support and involvement with GCVA.  He stated they continue to help with 
Cedar Valley and Cedar Falls in economic growth. He introduced Lisa Skubal, Vice 
President of Economic Development.  Ms. Skubal updated the council on projects this 
past year.  She stated they had 25 external opportunities.  She stated she has worked 
with both Shane Graham and Cedar Falls Utilities on some of the contacts.  Ms. Skubal 
introduced Cassie Grimsman who is a Business Services Coordinator.  Ms. Grimsman 
updated the committee on the Live the Valley.com website.   She stated they have had 
5300 users of the website.  Cary Darrah, Vice President of Community Development, 
thanked the City and reviewed the rebranding.  Committee members held a brief 
discussion. 

The Mayor introduced the third item on the agenda The FY2018 Audit Report.  Lisa 
Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer reviewed the FY2018 Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report.  She stated the City is required to publish a complete set of financial 
statements presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  
She stated the auditors gave a clean opinion and found no findings or questionable 
costs to report.  Ms. Roeding reviewed the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards, stating the City had 13 federally funded grants totaling just over $6 million in 
expenditures.  She explained this report will be filed with the State Auditor’s office as 
required by Iowa Code and it will be posted on the City’s website.  A brief discussion 
was held. Tom Blanford motioned to approve the FY2018 Audit Report and Susan 
deBuhr seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda bills and payroll.  Daryl Kruse 
motioned to approve the bills and payroll as presented and Mark Miller seconded the 
motion. The motion carried unanimously. 

There being no further discussion Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:33 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

12



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Duke Young Conference Room  

November 19, 2018 
 

The City Council held a special work session in the Duke Young Conference room at 5:45 p.m. 
on November 19, 2018, with the following persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom 
Blanford, Susan deBuhr, Daryl Kruse and David Wieland. Staff members attended from all City 
Departments.  Tom Nelson with the Waterloo Courier and other members of the community 
attended.  

Mayor Brown then introduced the only item on the agenda, Training on Municode Agenda 
Management Software. Julie Sorensen, Information Technology Manager stated they began 
using Municode Agenda Management software with the last Planning & Zoning Meeting and 
will have all departments using it with the December 3 Council Meeting.  She stated they have 
had a training session and will hold other sessions in the near future.  She explained the 
agenda will look a little different and will continue to receive an email to notify the packet is 
ready.  She explained the November 19 and December 3 meetings will have the council 
packet prepared in both the old software and the new Municode software.  Ms. Sorensen 
stated they will transfer all of calendar year 2018 agendas to the Municode format.  She 
explained the next step is to change the way the voting happens at the meetings. She 
explained this will take place in 2019.  A brief discussion was held. 

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 5:55 p.m.  

 

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  November 29, 2018 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Cedar Falls Woman's Club, 304 Clay Street, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 

b) Rancho Chico, 618 Brandilynn Blvd #104, Class C Liquor - renewal. 
 

c) Sharky's Fun House, 2223 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

d) The Brown Bottle, 1111 Center Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
 

e) Urban Pie, 200 State Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

f) Bani's, 2128 College Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 

g) Barmuda Distribution, 6027 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 

91



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: November 30, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program 

  Project No. FL-000-2017 

 
On August 7, 2017, City Council approved a grant agreement between Iowa Homeland 
Security and Emergency Management and the City of Cedar Falls for the Cedar Falls 
Property Acquisition and Demolition Project to purchase 13 properties. 
 
On July 16, 2018, City Council approved an additional purchase offer for 2703 Timothy 
Street due to remaining available funding, and staff proceeded to close the transaction 
with the property owners.  The property owners executed a Warranty Deed and Deed 
Restriction, as well as other associated documents in exchange for payment under the 
project. 
 
I therefore recommend that the City Council approve and accept the Warranty Deed 
and accompanying Deed Restriction, and that the City Clerk be authorized to file such 
documents, along with any other required documents, with the Black Hawk County 
Recorder. 

92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: November 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: W. 1
st
 Street Reconstruction Project - Property Acquisitions 

  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1

st
 Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 

project is in the final design phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The utilities and other 
infrastructure work will be started early next year. The road construction will take place in 2019-
2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four lane to a five lane 
facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) properties and partial 
acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Appraisals and offers are gradually being sent to the properties affected by this corridor 
reconstruction project. The owners of the following properties have accepted our offer. 
 
 
Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

18 Sandra K. Neuman 1017 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Permanent and  
Temporary Easement 

9 Jody E. Syndergaard Family Trust 1215 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Permanent and 
Temporary Easement 
Tenant Agreement 

63 Evette Edmister 103 Catherine Street Fee 
Temporary Easement 

13 Jennifer Marie Riehm 
Donald James Riehm 

1115 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Permanent and 
Temporary Easement 
Tenant Agreement 

72 Wolter Properties LC 1322 W. 1
st
 Street Fee 

Temporary Easement 
Tenant Agreement 

210



 
Attached is a map that identifies the location of these properties. 
 
The City will use federal funds for the design and right of way portion of this project. Per an 
agreement with the DOT approved on August 7, 2017, the city will be the lead in property 
acquisition and design. All eligible project costs will be split 50% City and 50% DOT which 
includes engineering, right of way, construction and construction administration. The city signed 
as agreement with Snyder and Associates on September 5, 2017 for these services. Funds for 
this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program in FY18 and FY20 
under item number 91. If approved, the City Attorney will prepare the necessary closing 
documents and staff will complete the acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 
the acquisitions and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the W. 1

st
 Street 

reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Jon Resler, City Engineer 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

211



Crescent Dr

N 
Co

lle
ge

 St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 1st St
Co

tta
ge

 G
rvElm St

Pa
rk

Dr

Edgewood St

Linda Dr

Theimer St

Hu
ds

o n
Rd

Me
mo

ria
l A

ve

Fr
an

cis
 St

Di
vis

ion
 St

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

W Park Dr

Pe
ar

l S
t

Pine St

Ol
ive

 St

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt
 St

F orr est Rd

W 3rd St

Ida St

Oak St

Parkway Ave

Ell
en

 St

Iow
a S

t

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Ge
ne

vie
ve

 St

Fr
an

kli
n S

t

N 
Fr

an
cis

 S
t

NElle nSt

S Park Rd

Edgewood St

N 
Di

vis
ion

 S
t

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

H i
gh

la n
d D

r

Ba
ke

r D
r

Parkway Ave

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Higby DrN
Highland Dr

Center St

69
68

67
6671 64 62

61
60

59 58
57

56
55

54 52
51

49 48 47 46

45
4143

252 3 4 8 29 30 31
10

11
12 14

15
16

17 19
20

21

22
23

42

28

72 63

9 13
18

76
75

74 73 6570 53 50 44

5 5 6 7 2624

1

77

27

I

Signed
Submitted for Approval
Not Signed

212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: November 28, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: 2017 Permeable Alley Project 
  Project No. ST-106-3093 
  Final Out 
 
The 2017 Permeable Alley Project is complete and ready for final acceptance. The 
project installed a permeable pavement alley to treat stormwater runoff from adjacent 
paved surfaces. The project was under contract with Vieth Construction Corp. of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. Attached you will find the following final documents: 
 

- Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
- Copy of Maintenance Bond, Mike Dolan Concrete and Masonry Inc. 

 
The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division 
and are on file with City Clerk: 
 

Vieth Construction Corp. suppliers: 
Midland Concrete Products 
Manatts 
County Material Corporation 
BMC Aggregates L.C. 

Vieth Construction Corp. Subcontractors: 
Service Signing 
Central States Concrete 
Hardscape Solutions 
 

 
 
This project was primarily funded by the Storm Water Fund and Street Construction 
Fund. 
 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2017 Permeable Alley Project were 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
                                                               11/28/2018    
        Matthew Tolan   Date 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 

292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: November 29, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
  City Project Number FL-000-1975 
  Change Order No. 3 
  
 

The City of Cedar Falls has awarded the Levee/Floodwall System Improvements 
Project to Iowa Bridge and Culvert, LC of Washington, Iowa. This contractor will be 
raising the level of flood protection along the length of the levee by approximately two 
(2) feet. The improvements to the system will involve both new structural walls as well 
as increased earthen sections. The levee is approximately 6,100 linear feet long, 
beginning at Center Street, running east and south along the Cedar River, and ending 
at the Western Homes Community just south of E. 9th Street. 
 
As introduced during the July 16, 2018 Council Committee of the Whole, attached is a 
change order for additional work for the Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
in the amount of $84,020.25. The funding for this project, including change orders, will 
be provided by an Iowa Flood Management Program grant. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
change order with Iowa Bridge and Culvert, LC. for the Levee/Floodwall System 
Improvements Project.   
 
 
 

xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz Director of Community Development  
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 

302



303



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: November 29, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Lakeshore Storm Sewer Analysis 
  Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. 
  Project No. DR-346-3175 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Clapsaddle-Garber 
Associates, Inc. that outlines the scope of services and costs for a storm sewer analysis 
of Lakeshore Drive and Lilliput Lane.  
 
Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. was the firm selected by Community Development. 
The enclosed agreement with Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. provides a survey of 
existing infrastructure, hydraulic modeling of the corridor, and will provide cost estimates 
based on the results. The cost of this agreement is in the amount not to exceed 
$4,000.00. The cost will be covered by the Storm Water Fund.  
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of this Professional Service Agreement with Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc. for the 
Lakeshore Storm Sewer Analysis. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, PE, City Engineer 
 

304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: November 28, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: 924 Viking Road 
  Sanitary Sewer Easement 
  Area 241 
 
The new development, currently under construction, located at 924 Viking in Cedar 
Falls is acquiring an easement for a private sanitary sewer connection across City 
property. This sanitary sewer easement will allow for the new development to connect 
into the City’s sewer system. The permanent easement will allow the developer, Hi 
Yield, LLC and DBD Investments, LLC, to utilize the adjacent City property for the 
installation and maintenance of the private sanitary sewer. The easement agreement is 
attached for your review. The cost of the easement is $4,369.07 borne by Hi Yield, LLC 
and DBD Investments, LLC to the City. 
 
We recommend that the Easement Agreement with Hi Yield, LLC be accepted by the 
City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer  
 
 
 
 

332



333



334



335



336



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: November 28, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  Six Kids, LLC (Rabo Agrifinance) 
  Area 282, 1402 Technology Parkway 
   
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal maintenance 
and repair agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement.  The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for Six Kids, LLC and finds it in accordance with 
City Code. The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be accepted by the 
City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer  
  
 
 
 
 

337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



Exhibit E

345



346



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor 
 
 DATE: November 28, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  ACOH, LLC  (Threads) 
  Area 364, 6601 Development Drive 
   
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal maintenance 
and repair agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement.  The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for the ACOH, LLC and finds it in accordance with 
City Code. The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be accepted by the 
City Council and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer  
  
 
 
 
 

347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor 
 
 DATE: November 28, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: 2018 Street Construction Project 
  City Project Number RC-000-3141 
  Change Order #3 
  
 

The City of Cedar Falls has awarded the 2018 Street Construction Project to Peterson 
Contractors, Inc. of Reinbeck, Iowa. This contractor will be reconstructing/repairing 
portions of sixteen (16) streets as a part of this project.  
  
During the course of construction many unknown challenges are encountered. These 
challenges require cooperation by local utility companies, schools, as well as other 
various City Departments. This change order involved the additional work required by 
Cedar Fall Utilities, storm sewer modifications, additional sanitary sewer and settlement 
for liquated damages by the contractor.  
 
The total estimated cost of this change order is $33,668.36 with funding from the Local 
Option Sales Tax and partial reimbursement by Cedar Falls Utilities and Sewer Rental 
Fund.  
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
change order with Peterson Contractors, Inc. for 2018 Street Construction Project.  
 
 
 

xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz Director of Community Development  
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 

358



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

CHANGE OF WORK ORDER 
         No.         3                                                    Non-Substantial               

                              Substantial 
 

Contract Number RC-000-3141 Project 2018 Street Construction Project 

Kind of Work PCC Paving Date Prepared November 21, 2018 

Contractor Peterson Contractors Inc.   

 
You are hereby ordered to make the following changes from the plans or do the following extra work on your contract dated March 5

th
, 

2018.  
 
A.  Description of change to be made or extra work to be done: 

EWO #4 

8012 - 12TH Street water tower work       1.0  LS  @ $2073.20/LS 
8013 - East Street watermain work       1.0  LS  @ $4325.20/LS 
8014 - 4th Street storm sewer porous backfill      1.0  LS  @ $3251.40/LS 
       

EWO #5 

8019 - Alley- Extra Fencing and traffic  control for Sturgis Celebration    1.0  LS  @ $330.00/LS 
8020 - 12th Street- Extra Traffic Control per Public Request     1.0  LS  @ $330.00/LS 
8021 - Pheasant Drive- Handicap Drop Cut      1.0  LS  @ $385.00/LS 
 

EWO #6 

8015 - 12TH Street- Rock and equipment time moving school building    1.0  LS  @ $2356.80/LS 
8017 - East Street- Rock and equipment time for driveways at watermain location  1.0  LS  @ $328.40/LS 
8018 - Pheasant Drive- Saw cutting of intake tops (Iowa Wall Sawing invoice)   1.0  LS  @ $4251.50/LS 
 

EWO #8 

8023 - Todd Van Dorn Construction Mobilizations     1.0 LS  @  $660/LS 
8024 - SW-509 Intake with Type D Top      3 Each  @ $4,850/Each 
 

EWO #9 

8025 - E-Joint for manhole boxouts       1.0 LS  @  $317.86/LS 
 

EWO #10 

8026 - Extra Work Sanitary (Olive Street & Iowa Street)      1.0 LS  @  $2,659/LS 
       
 
8027 - Erosion Control Mulching – Conventional Mulching     1.5 Acres @ $3,300/Ac 
8028 - Cold Weather Protection       500 S.Y. @  $1.00/S.Y. 
8029 - Deduct Intermediate Liquated Damages (Iowa Street)     19 Days @  $400/Day 

     

B.  Reason for ordering change or extra work: 
8012- Extra work for CFU 
8013- Extra work for CFU 
8014- Different specifications on storm pipe didn’t allow for size of aggregate stated in plans. 
8015- Extra work to allow school house to be moved through project. 
8017- Extra work for CFU. 
8018- Existing intakes were different than specified in plans. Extra work for saw cutting tops of intakes for removals. 
8019- Alley- Extra Fencing and traffic control for Sturgis Celebration.    
8020- 12th Street- Extra Traffic Control per Public Request      
8021- Pheasant Drive- Handicap Drop Saw Cut 
8023- Todd Van Dorn Construction Mobilizations – Various Locations      
8024- SW-509 Intake with Type D Top – Various Locations 
8025- E-Joint for manhole boxouts – Various Locations      
8026- Extra Work Sanitary (Olive Street & Iowa Street) 
8027- Erosion Control – Conventional Mulching     
8028- Cold Weather Projection - SUDAS 
8029- The contractors continued lack to perform work in a timely manner. 

 
Approved,                                                                         , 2018                                                                          , 2018 
Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer                    Date            Chase Schrage, Project Engineer      Date 
 
Peterson Contractors Inc.                                                           By,                                                                      , 2018 
Contractor   Matt Bohlen, Project Manager             Date 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS: 

 
Approved by the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, this             day of                                                                      , 2018 
 
Attest                                                  ,                      , 2018                                                       ,                        , 2018 

City Clerk                                  Date                                      Mayor                                       Date 

11/21

11/2111/21

359



CHANGE/WORK ORDER NO.             3                     

 

C - Settlement for cost of work to be made as follows: 

8012-8028 -  Agreed lump sum price. 
8029  - Contract Price of $400 per day on intermediate working days (see Working Day Report #33) 
 

Contract Modifications:  

EWO #4 
10 Working Days added to West 12th Street Stage 1 and overall project total 
5 Working Days added to East Street and overall project total 
1 Working Day added to 4th Street(Angie Drive to Hudson Road) and overall project total 
 
Add 16 Working Days to contract 
Total Working Days for contract: 176 Working Days 
 

D - ITEMS INCLUDED IN CONTRACT 
7-10 

 

Item no. 

 

Item Description 

 

Unit Price 

                                  .XXX 

 

Quantity 

                     .XXX 

 

Amount 

                       .XX 

 
|  7 |  0  |  0  |  0 | 

    

 
|  7 |  0  |  0  |  1  | 

    

 
|  7 |  0  |  0  |  2  | 

    

     

     

     

     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

        Total 

 
 

 

E - ITEMS NOT INCLUDED IN CONTRACT 

7-10 
 

Item no. 

 

Item Description 

 

Unit Price 

 

 

Quantity 

 

 

Amount 

 

 
|  8 | 0  | 1  |  2 | 

12
th
 Street Water Tower Work $2073.20 per Lump Sum 1.0 $2073.20 

 
|  8 | 0  | 1  |  3 | 

East Street Watermain work $4325.20 per Lump Sum 1.0 $4325.20 

|  8 | 0  | 1  |  4 | 4
th
 Street Storm sewer porous backfill $3251.40 per Lump Sum 1.0 $3251.40 

 
|  8 | 0  | 1  |  5 | 

12
th
 Street- Rock and equipment time for 

moving school building 
$2356.80 per Lump Sum 1.0 $2356.80 

|  8 | 0  | 1  |  7 | 
East Street- Rock and Equipment time for 

driveways at watermain location 
$328.40 per Lump Sum 1.0 $328.40 

|  8 | 0  | 1  |  8 | 
Pheasant drive- Saw cutting of intake 

tops(Iowa Wall Sawing) 
$4251.50 per Lump Sum 1.0 $4251.50 

|  8 | 0  | 1  |  9 | 
Alley- Extra Fencing and Traffic Control for 

Sturgis Celebration 
$330.00 per Lump Sum 1.0 $330.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  0 | 
12

th
 Street- Extra Traffic Control per Public 

Request 
$330.00 per Lump Sum 1.0 $330.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  1 | Pheasant drive- Handicap Drop Saw Cut $385.00 per Lump Sum 1.0 $385.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  3 | TVD Mobilization $660 per Lump Sum 1.0 $660.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  4 | SW-509 type D top $4,850 per Each 3.0 $14,550.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  5 | 
E-Joint for manhole boxouts – Various 

Locations 
$317.86 per Lump Sum 1.0 $317.86 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  6 | 
Extra Work Sanitary (Olive Street & Iowa 

Street) 
$2,659 per Lump Sum 1.0 $2,659.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  7 | Erosion Control – Conventional Mulching $3,300 per Acre 1.5 $4,950.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  8 | Cold Weather Protection $1.00 per Square Yard 500.0 $500.00 

|  8 | 0  | 2  |  9 | Liquidated Damages (Deduct) $400 per Day 19.0 -$7,600 

  
 

 
 

 

        Total 
 

$33,668.36 

Change Order #3 Total: $33,668.36  

Change Orders Running Total(CO #1-#4): $249,235.71 

360



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner I 

 DATE: November 29, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Design review of a property in the Central Business District Overlay 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Design review for a new wall sign and awnings for 209 State Street 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Justeen Hill, owner of Tea Cellar 

LOCATION: 
 

209 State Street 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant is requesting a façade review for a new wall sign and awnings at 209 State Street 
to advertise the building’s new tenant, Tea Cellar. This property is within the Central Business 
District. See images of the existing and proposed façades below.   

 
Existing storefront      Existing side 

 
  

              
     
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed side 
 

Proposed storefront 

361



BACKGROUND 
This item requires review by the Planning & Zoning Commission and the City Council since this 
property is located within the Central Business District (Section 29-168). The downtown district 
requires a building site plan review (i.e. design review) for any “substantial improvement” to an 
exterior façade, including a color or material change. A substantial improvement to properties in 
the CBD Overlay is defined in Section 29-186(c) and reads as follows: 
 

“Substantial improvement " includes any new building construction within the overlay 
district or any renovation of an existing structure that involves any modification of the 
exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or removing exterior windows or 
doors or altering the color or exterior materials of existing walls. All facade improvements, 
changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing facade materials will be 
considered a substantial improvement. Included in this definition are any new, modified or 
replacement awning structures or similar material extensions over the public sidewalk 
area. A substantial improvement also includes any increase or decrease in existing 
building height and/or alteration of the existing roof pitch or appearance.” 
 

ANALYSIS 
This property is located in a C-3, commercial zoning district, and falls within the Central 
Business District Overlay. As noted above, all substantial improvements to structures within the 
overlay district shall be reviewed by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council. The 
following is an evaluation of the project: 
 
1. Proportion: The proportions of the building are not being altered. This criterion does not apply. 
 
2. Roof shape, pitch and direction: The roof of the building is not being altered. This criterion 

does not apply. 
 
3. Pattern: The surfaces and openings of this structure will remain the same. This criterion does 

not apply. 
 
4. Building Composition: The composition of the building will remain the same. This criterion 

does not apply. 
 
5. Window and transparency: The size, proportion and type of windows on the building are not 

changing. This criterion does not apply. 
 
6. Materials and texture: The applicant is proposing to wrap a 2 foot wide blue "awning skirt" 

around the existing metal/wood awning on the storefront as well as add awnings over 
the four windows facing the neighboring parking lot to the south. The applicant will 
use a blue outdoor fabric for these improvements. The use of outdoor fabric is 
consistent with other awning materials in the district. This criterion is met. 

 
7. Color: The colors of the exterior walls and roof of the building will not change. The applicant 

is proposing to use a blue fabric for the awnings that will act as an accent to the 
building. This criterion is met. 

 
8. Architectural features: The architectural features of the building are remaining the same. This 

criterion does not apply. 
 

362



9. Building Entries: The entry to the building will not change. This criterion does not apply. 
 
10. Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork, exterior painting. This criterion does not apply 

for this review 
 
11. Signage: The applicant is proposing to add a wall sign to the 

storefront. The sign will be a laser cut-out of 12 gauge cold-
rolled steel with a clear seal coat to help prevent rusting. The 
wall sign will be approximately 4 feet wide and 6 feet high (24 
sqft). The sign will not detract from the architectural features of 
the building and will cover approximately 2% of the storefront. 
Wall signs are not permitted to exceed 10% of the area of the 
storefront. The area of the 209 State Street storefront is 
approximately 1,035 sqft (69 feet wide x 15 feet tall). This 
criterion is met.  

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
No comments. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
11/28/2018 

Planner Lehmann presented the proposed façade plan. There were no 
questions or comments. The proposal was unanimously approved by the 
Commission. 

   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and the Community Development Department 
recommend approval of the proposed awnings and wall sign for 209 State Street. 
 
Attachments:   Letter of intent from business owner 
  

363



Iris, 
 
Thank you for your information and for returning my call. 
 
The property address Tea Cellar will be occupying is 209 State Street, Cedar Falls, owned by 
Dave Farris; Dave is copied on this email. 
 
The signage I would like to display on the front of the building (facing State Street) would be 
fashioned by Kryton Engineering.  It is a laser cut-out of 12 gauge cold-rolled steel with a clear 
seal coat applied after it is cut so the outside elements will not rust it.  The center tea cut will 
be cut out and reattached, painted blue, to give it a 3D effect.  Four to six mounting holes will 
be used around the entire edge in order to fasten it to the building; spacers will also be used to 
offset the sign approximately 1" from the wall.  The dimensions are approximately 4' wide and 
6' high. 
 
The blue "awning skirt" will be 2' high and wrap around the existing metal/wood awning.  Fabric 
will be used. 
 
The side awnings are approximately 44" high by 36" in diameter.  There are four windows 
facing south (parking lot).  Fabric. 
 
Tea Cellar currently occupies space at 208 Main Street (below Basket of Daisies) and has been 
at that location since November 3, 2016; my lease expires December 31st. 
 
I am happy to drop off the processing fee of $50 indicated in your email; is that workable? 
 
I understand my deadline for submission is Monday, November 12th, and that review by the 
P&Z Committee is scheduled for November 28th and possible City Council meeting on 
December 3rd. 
 
Do let me know if you are in need of anything further from me.  Thank you. 
 
Steepingly yours,  
Justeen Hill 
 

364



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: November 29, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Asbestos Removal at 2703 Timothy Street 
  Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program 
  Project Number: FL-000-2017 
 

The City recently obtained one additional property (in addition to 13 properties in 2017) 
as part of the 2016 Flood Buyout Program through the Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
(HMGP). Asbestos testing was performed on the property, and it did contain asbestos 
materials. The grant program requires that the structure be demolished; however 
asbestos materials will need to be removed first. One bids for asbestos removal was 
received: 
 

Advanced Environmental $8,338.00 

 
The Community Development Department recommends entering into an Asbestos 
Removal Contract with Advanced Environmental, for work at 2703 Timothy Street. This 
work would be completed within 20 working days, prior to demolishing the home.   
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
 
 
CC: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 

 

 
 
 

365



366



367



368



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: November 29, 2018 

 SUBJECT: PC-2 District Site Plan Review – 936 Viking Road 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve a PC-2 Planned Commercial District Site Plan for a new 
8,088 square foot retail building. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

HI YIELD LLC, Owner; Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc., Engineer 
 

LOCATION: 
 

936 Viking Road 
 

 

  
PROPOSAL 
It is proposed to construct an 8,088 
square foot commercial building (in 
blue outline to the right) which will 
provide room for three tenants. The 
overall development plan for the 
property includes a 55,000 square 
foot gym/retail building, and four 
commercial buildings totaling 
approximately 30,000 square feet.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The property was rezoned by the City 
Council from A-1 Agricultural District 
to PC-2 Planned Commercial District 
on September 19, 2016. A site plan 
for just the gymnasium/retail building was approved by the City Council on December 15, 2016 
after a unanimous recommendation of approval from the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
During the review of the gymnasium/retail building site plan in 2016, a general design of the 4 
outbuildings was presented, however those buildings were not part of the original site plan 
approval. A site plan was presented for Outbuilding #3 at the northeast corner of the property, 
and was approved by City Council on August 21, 2017. Then, on October 16, 2017, a revised 
site plan for the gymnasium/retail building was approved by City Council, which added 
approximately 10,000 square feet of building area and added a parking area behind the building. 
 

369



ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned PC-2, Planned Commercial District. The PC-2 District is a predominantly 
commercial project containing retail and general service facilities on larger tracts of land that is 
designed and improved in accordance with a comprehensive project plan and developmental 
procedures agreement. It is further the purpose of these regulations to encourage high 
standards of building architecture and site planning which will foster commercial development 
that maximizes pedestrian convenience, comfort and pleasure. 
 
As indicated in the Background section, several site plan reviews on this property have already 
been approved. The overall development plan for the property shows a total of five buildings; 
one has already been completed, and one is currently under construction. This approval is for 
the third of five buildings. A detailed site plan review of each building when it is proposed to be 
constructed is required to ensure that the development site satisfies a number of standards.  
Details such as building design and location, parking, landscaping, open space, signage, 
dumpster location, and other similar criteria are reviewed to ensure orderly and quality 
development in the PC-2 Planned Commercial District. 
 
Following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements: 
 
1) Proposed Use: The 8,080 square foot retail/professional office building is a permitted use in 

the PC-2 District. Use permitted. 
 
2) Setbacks: The setbacks apply to the building, parking lot and signage. The PC-2 District 

normally requires a 30-foot setback around the perimeter of the "district”. The PC-2 District 
also states that for areas less than 10 acres in size, that the setback area may be reduced 
to 20’, subject to review and approval from the Planning & Zoning Commission and City 
Council. The developer did ask that the 30 foot open space buffer setback be reduced to 
20 feet in width, which was approved by City Council.  

 
The proposed building is located 35 feet from the front property line and 38 feet from the 
side property line, which meet the 20 foot minimum buffer requirements. The parking area 
is also shown 35 feet from the front property line as well. Building and Parking Area 
setbacks are satisfied. 

 
3) Parking: Retail stores over 2,000 square feet require 4.5 stall per 1,000 square feet of 

gross floor area, or in this case 28 stalls. (7,280 SF/1,000 x 4.5 = 32.76 stalls). The 
proposed building will have room for 3 tenants, however they may not all be retail based 
and instead may have a professional office use or two. Retail uses require more parking 
than professional office uses, so staff wanted to error on the side of caution by calling the 
entire building a retail use for parking purposes. Although the entire development may 
utilize one large parking lot, the developer may in the future divide the buildings onto their 
own lot. The plan indicates that, if divided, 34 parking stalls would be maintained on the 
site. Parking requirements are satisfied for this use. 

 
4) Open Space: Open green space must be provided on site. The ordinance requires 10% of 

the total development site excluding the required setback area. In this case the lot contains 
approximately 9 acres of land (400,000 ft²). When the perimeter setbacks are excluded  
(20-foot minimum), approximately 61,000 square feet can be deducted from the total: 
400,000-61,000=339,000 x 0.10 = 33,900 square feet open green space must be provided 
on site. The property has approximately 298,103 square feet of open space remaining, 
which far exceeds the minimum open space requirement. Open green space satisfied. 

 

370



5) Landscaping: The PC-2 District requires landscape plantings at the rate of 0.02 points per 
square foot of the total development site excluding the setback areas described above 
(0.02 x 339,000 ft²) = 6,780 basic site landscaping points. These points can be made up 
with any combination of trees, conifers and shrubbery and distributed throughout the site, 
parking areas and along the street. To calculate the number of street tree points, the 
formula is 0.75 points per linear foot of street frontage. In this case, the frontage along 
Viking Road for this parcel is 220 feet. This would equate to 165 street tree points. The 
plan for this portion of the development shows 9 street trees, with a total of 360 points.  

 
In addition to these points, landscaping must also be provided to satisfy “parking lot 
landscaping.” The parking lot calculation must be “added” to the “site/street tree 
landscaping” number (6,780) to arrive at a total landscaping requirement for the property. 
The parking area landscaping requirement is one tree for every 15 parking stalls or 2,500 
square feet of hard surface parking area. If the one tree for every 15 stalls ratio is applied, 
the total tree planting for this portion of the parking lot would be 34/15 stalls = 3 trees. The 
plan for this portion of the development shows 8 parking lot trees. 
 
A landscaping plan for the overall site was submitted when the gymnasium building went 
through the site plan review process. All requirements were met at that time. For this 
portion of the development, the landscaping plan appears to be similar to what was 
submitted for the overall development and for the completed outbuilding #3, with trees 
located along the street, trees within the parking lot, and trees located around the building. 
Landscape Plan is acceptable.  

 
6) Sidewalks: A Sidewalk is identified along the Viking Road street frontage. A sidewalk is 

also shown that connects this building and the other proposed building adjacent to the 
south to the public sidewalk along Viking Road. A sidewalk was also shown connecting 
Outbuilding #3 which was recently completed, to the sidewalk along Viking Road. With this 
site plan approval, both buildings along the Viking Road street frontage will be complete, so 
the sidewalk along Viking Road and the sidewalks that lead to both buildings will need to 
be installed. Sidewalk plan is acceptable, and will be installed in conjunction with the 
construction of this building. 

 
7) Building Design: The proposed building will be constructed with a mixture of rock faced 

block (gray), Cumaru wood shiplap siding, glass windows and doors, and two tones of 
corrugated metal paneling (silver and charcoal). Wall signage will also be located above 
each doorway. This building design is very similar to Outbuilding #3, which was completed 
earlier this year. Overall Building Design is acceptable. 

 
 

8) Trash Dumpsters: The dumpster enclosure will be located closer to the gymnasium building 
to the south. A dumpster enclosure plan was submitted when the gymnasium building was 
proposed that included a 6’ split face block wall with a slated gate for access. Dumpster 
enclosure plan is acceptable.   

Front Design of Building 

371



 
9) Storm Water Management: There are two underground storm water collection areas 

located under the parking lot in front of Outbuilding #1 and Outbuilding #3. These detention 
basins release the water into the storm sewer located along Viking Road. Also, there is a 
storm water detention area located to the southwest of the gymnasium building. Water from 
around the gymnasium building and areas south of the gymnasium building will go to this 
detention pond. This overall storm water management plan was reviewed and approved by 
the Engineering Division during the site plan review of the gymnasium building in 2016. 

 
10) Lighting Plan: While not required by the PC-2 District 

requirements, a general lighting plan has been 
submitted and appears to be satisfactory. The 
applicant has provided information showing the 
location of 9 proposed light poles to be installed in 
front of the building and within the parking lot. The 
lighting fixtures will consist of LED die-cast 
aluminum box downlights.  

 
 
11) Signage: The PC-2 District permits wall signs to cover 20% of the surface area of any one 

wall space. However, no more than two wall faces can be utilized for signage in the PC-2 
District. Wall signage is identified on the front side of the building over each tenant space 
entry.  One main freestanding entrance sign is allowed adjacent to the adjoining major 
thoroughfare. Said sign shall not exceed 20 feet in height and 200 square feet in area. A 
freestanding entrance sign was shown on the original site plan submittal for the 
gymnasium building. Signage requirements appear to be met, but will be verified at 
the time of sign permit application. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, have few comments on the 
proposed site plan. All basic utility services are available to the site. The developer is required to 
provide all utility services to the building and must coordinate those improvements with CFU 
personnel. 
 
As a condition of approving the occupancy permit for Outbuilding #3 in June of 2018, the 
developer was to provide a lighting plan to the City, as the parking lot did not have any lighting 
at the time. The developer has installed 2 light poles on the site to provide lighting to the 
premises to ensure the safe entrance and exit to the property by the public.  
 
The City Engineering Division has had comments regarding their Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for the site. A number of deficiencies were noted by City staff during 
several site visits over the past several months. However, those items have been addressed by 
the developer. The developer and contractor for the site will need to address any changes that 
occur as construction continues on the site with continued maintenance, weekly inspections, 
seeding during appropriate times, and use of SWPPP approved stabilization techniques. In the 
future, the City will require that the developer obtain an individual SWPPP permit for each of the 
remaining buildings on the site prior to construction to help maintain control of the site during the 
duration of the remaining construction on the site.   
 
Also, when the sanitary sewer service was extended to this site from the existing sanitary sewer 
main located on the City-owned property to the west (Prairie Lakes Park), an easement for that 
private line that is located on City property was never established. That easement agreement 

372



has been drafted and reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers, and will be proceeding to City 
Council for approval. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the site plan for the retail 
building at 936 Viking Road. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
11/28/2018 

Mr. Graham gave background information regarding the request, noting that 
the project includes a new 8,088 square foot retail building located on the 
property. Mr. Graham indicated that one of the other outbuildings has already 
been constructed, and the gymnasium building is currently under 
construction. Mr. Graham noted that this building was shown on their overall 
development plan, and is designed similar to the other buildings on the site.  
 
Mr. Leeper commented that this request is pretty straight forward, as the 
building design is similar to the other building already constructed on the 
site, and is consistent with the overall approved plan for the property.   
 
Mr. Hartley made a motion to approve. Mr. Leeper seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously. 
 

  
 
 

373



N
Pra

irie
La

ke

S Pra
irie

Lak
e

Technology
Park

Industrial
Park

Prairie
Lakes Park

CFU
Solar

Garden

Danish Dr

Enterprise Dr

Nordic Dr

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Savannah Park Rd

We
stm

ins
ter

Dr
Viking Rd

M-1

M-2

M-1-P

R-2

A-1

PC-2

University
of Northern

Iowa

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Black
Hawk
Park

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce
da

rHe i g
hts

Dr

Waterloo Rd Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

V ikin

gRd

W 18th St

University Ave

Greenhill Rd

Center St

E Dunkerton Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

NUnion Rd

Lincoln St

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

936 Viking Road - PC-2 District
Site Plan Review

Cedar Falls City Council
December 3, 2018

374



375



376



VIKING RETAIL
11/15/16

PERSPECTIVE 04

 

Copyright R. Wayne Williamson, AIA

Date: 7/2/18

A1
Sheet Number

Sheet Name

Cover Sheet
 

Drawn By Checked By

RWW RWW

CAD File Name
Building 1 Plan

Project Number

018019

Da
te

DK
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
TH

IS
 P

LA
N,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

AN
D 

CO
NC

EP
T,

 IS
 T

HE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

R.
 W

AY
NE

 W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N,

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
AN

D 
IS

 P
RO

TE
CT

ED
 U

ND
ER

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
LA

W
. U

NA
UT

OR
IZ

ED
 U

SE
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
  
  

20
18

BY
 R

. W
AY

NE
 W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N,
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

A 
Ne

w
 F

ac
ili

ty
 a

t:

93
6 V

ik
in

g 
Ro

ad
Bu

ild
in

g 
#1

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

De
sc

rip
tio

n 
of

 R
ev

is
io

n

60
4 C

la
y 

St
re

et
, C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

31
9-

76
8-

72
35

R.
 W

ay
ne

 W
ill

ia
m

so
n,

 A
rc

hi
te

ct

PROJECT DATA / CODE INFORMATION

PROJECT: 936 VIKING ROAD, BUILDING #1
GOVERNING CODES: 2015 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE

2015 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE
2014 NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE 

ZONING:

CONSTRUCTION TYPE: II-B, NON-COMBUSTIBLE / NON-PROTECTED

BUILDING HEIGHT: 1 STORY / 22'-0"

OCCUPANCY GROUP: M (MERCHANTILE)

BUILDING AREA: 8,000 SQUARE FEET;  12,5000 ALLOWABLE

SPRINKLER SYSTEM: NONE; NOT REQUIRED

OCCUPANCY LOAD: 134

GENERAL NOTES: MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL AND PLUMBING DESIGNS TO BE DESIGN BUILD. DESIGN/BUILD 
CONTRACTORS TO PROVIDE ALL NECESSARY DOCUMENTS TO CEDAR FALLS BUILDING
INSPECTION SERVICES PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

TENANT FINISH AND FIT OUT TO BE ACCOMPLISHED BY INDIVIDUAL TENANTS UNDER SEPERATE
PERMIT.

CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL A KNOX BOX WITH FINAL LOCATION COORDINATED WITH CEDAR
FALLS FIRE RESCUE.

MINIMUM SIZE FIRE EXTINGUISHER OF 2A-10BC TO BE INSTALLED WITHIN EACH TENANT SPACE
UNDER TENANT FIT OUT.

A NEW FACILITY AT:

936 VIKING ROAD
BUILDING #1

CEDAR FALLS, IA

Hu
ds

on
 R

d.

Hudson Rd.

Viking Rd.Viking Rd.
Ch

an
ce

llo
r D

r.

Savanah Park Rd.

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Dr

.

W
es

tm
in

st
er

 D
r.

E. Viking Rd.

Hw
y. 

58
Hw

y. 
58

Hwy. 58

No
rd

ic 
Dr

.

0 

100 ft 

200 ft 

300 ft 500 ft 

400 ft 

LOCATION MAP

Project 
Site

CERTIFICATION:
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE PORTION OF THIS TECHNICAL 
SUBMISSION  DESCRIBED BELOW WAS PREPARED BY ME OR 
UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION AND RESPOSIBLE CHARGE. I AM 
A DULY REGISTERED ARCHITECT UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE 
OF IOWA. IOWA REGISTRATION NUMBER #05707

NAME: R. WAYNE WILLIAMSON

PAGES OR SHEETS COVERED BY THIS SEAL.

A1, A2, A3, A4,  DATE ISSUED: 

SEAL:

SHEET INDEX

ARCHITECTURAL SHEETS

A1 COVER SHEET
A2 FLOOR PLAN
A3 ELEVATIONS
A4 REFL'D. CLNG. PLAN/ROOF PLAN/DOOR SCHED.
A5 WALL SECTIONS

PROJECT TEAM
CLIENT: HI YIELD, LLC

ARCHITECT: WAYNE WILLIAMSON, AIA
CEDAR FALLS, IA
319.939.3846

CIVIL ENG.: CLAPSADDLE-GARBER ASSOCIATES, INC.
MARSHALLTOWN, IA
641.752.6701

STRUCTURAL ENG.:

MECH/ELEC/PLBG ENG.: DESIGN/BUILD

GENERAL CONTRACTOR: DAHLSTROM REAL ESTATE

A.B. Anchor Bolt
A.D. Area Drain
Abv. Above
Adj. Adjustable
A.F.F. Above Finish Floor
AHU Air Handling Unit
ATG Adjust to Grade
A/C Air Conditioner
Acc. Accessible
Acous. Acoustical
Act. Actual
Aggr. Aggregate
Al/Gl Aluminum & Glass
Alt . Alternate
Alum. Aluminum
Anch. Anchor
Anod. Anodized
Asph. Asphalt
Auto Automatic
B.C. Brick Course
B.L. Borrowlight
Bd. Board
Bet. Between
Bldg. Building
Blk. Block
Blkg. Blocking
Bm. Beam
Brg. Bearing
Brk. Brick
Brkt. Bracket
Bsmt. Basement
Btm. Bottom
Cab. Cabinet
Cant. Cantilever
C.B. Catch Basin
C.C. Center to Center
Cer. Ceramic
C.E.T. Curb End Tapor
CG Corner Guard
Ch. Chord
CH Ceiling Height
CJ Control Joint
Cl. Clear
Clg. Ceiling
Clo. Closet
CMU Concrete Masonry Unit
Cntr Counter
CP Ceramic Pavers
C.O. Clean Out
Col Column
Comp. Composition
Conc. Concrete
Conf. Conference
Config. Configuration
Cont. Continuous
Contr. Contractor
Cor. Corner
Corr. Corridor
CR Carpet
Csmt. Casement
CT Ceramic Tile
CUH Cabinet Unit Heater
D. Dryer
Dbl. Double
D. H. Double Hung
Dia. Diameter
Dim. Dimension
Dk. Deck
Disp. Disposal
Dn. Down
DS Downspout
Dtl. Detail
D.U. Drive-up
DW Dishwasher
Dwg Drawing

E Employees
Ea. Each
EC Electrical Contractor
EIFS Exterior Insulation Finish System
EJ Expansion Joint
Elev. Elevation/Elevator
Emer. Emergency
Eng. Engineering
EP Electrical Panel
Eq. Equal
Equip. Equipment
Equiv. Equivalent
EW Each Way
Exist. Existing
Exp. Expansion
Ext. Exterior
F Female
F/ Face
F/A Fresh Air
FCG Full Height Corner Guard
FCU Fan Coil Unit
F.D. Floor Drain
Fdn. Foundation
FEB Fire Extinguisher Bracket
FEC Fire Extiguisher Cabinet
FF Finish Floor
FH Fire Hydrant
FHC Fire Hose Cabinet
Fin. Finished
Fixt. Fixture
Fl. Floor
Flr. Floor
FP Fireproofing
F.P. Fireplace
FS Full Size
FT Fire Treated
Ft. Foot/Feet
Ftg. Footing
Furn. Furnace
Ga. Gauge
Galv. Galvanized
G.C. General Contractor
Gen. General
Gl. Glass
Gr. Ground
Gran. Granular
Gyp. Gypsum
H.C. Heating Contractor
Hdr. Header
H.M. Hollow Metal
Horiz. Horizontal
HP High Point
Hr. Hour
HR Hand Rail
Hse. House
Ht. Height
I.D. Inside Diameter
Inc. Include/Including
Insul. Insulation
Int. Interior
Inv. Invert
Isol. Isolation
Jan. Janitor
Jct. Junction
Jt. Joint
K.D. Knock Down
Kit. Kitchen
K.S. Knee Space
Lam. Laminate
Lav. Lavoratory
LF Lineal Feet
Lg. Long
Lin. Linen
L.I.S. Lawn Irrigation System
Liv. Living
LP Low Point
LVL Laminated Veneer Lumber

Abbreviations:

M Men
Mas. Masonry
Max. Maximum
M.C. Mechanical Contractor
M.E. Match Existing
Mech. Mechanical
Med. Cab. Medicine Cabinet
Memb. Member
Mfr. Manufacturer
M.H. Man Hole
MHO Magnetic Hold Open
Min. Minimum
Misc. Miscellaneous
Mk. Mark
ML Metal Lath
M.O. Masonry Opening
Mtd. Mounted
N.I.C. Not in Contract
No. Number
Nom. Nominal
N.T.S. Not to Scale
O.C. On Center
O.D. Outside Diameter
O.F. Overflow Drain
O.H. Overhead/Opposite Hand
Off. Office
Opng. Opening
Opp. Opposite
O.S. Outside
Part. Partition
Part'n Partition
Part. Bd. Particle Board
Pass. Passage
PB Particle Board
P.C. Plumbing Contractor
Pict. Picture
Pl. Plate
P. Lam. Plastic Laminate
Plas. Plastic
Plbm. Plumbing
Plwd. Plywood
Pnl. Panel
Pol. Polished
Pr. Pair
Proj. Projection
Prop. Property
PTB Plaster Terminal Bead
Ptd. Painted
PTD Paper Towel Dispenser
Pub. Public
Pvmt. Pavement
R. Radius
R/A Return Air
Rad. Radius
Rec. Recessed
R.D. Roof Drain
Ref. Refrigerator/Reference
Reinf. Reinforced
Req'd. Required
Res. Rescue
Ret. Return
Rf. Roof
RHP Rolled Paper Holder
RIO Rough-in Only
Rm. Room
R.O. Rough Opening
RTU Roof Top Unit
R/W Right of Way
San. Sanitary
S.C. Security Equipment Contractor
Sched. Schedule
SCR Shower Curtain Rod
SD Sound Deadening
Sect. Section

SGT Structural Glazed Tile
Sht. Sheet
Shtg. Sheathing
Sim. Similar
SND Sanitary Napkin Disposal
Spec. Specification
Sq. Square
SS Stainless Steel
SSCG Stainless Steel Corner Guard
Std. Standard
Ster. Sterilizer
Stl. Steel
Stor. Storage
Struct. Structural
Susp. Suspended
SV Sheet Vinyl
Sw Bd Switch Board
T Toilet/Tread/Thermostat
T/ Top of
TBR To Be Removed
T/C Top of Concrete
T&G Tongue and Groove
Tel. Telephone
Temp. Temporary
Thk. Thick/Thickness
Thres. Threshold
Tlt. Toilet
Trans. Transom
TW/BW Top of Wall/Bottom of Wall
Typ. Typical
UC Undercounter
U.C. Utility Contractor
UCR Under Counter Refrigerator
UIP Use in Place
Unex. Unexcavated
UNO Unless Noted Otherwise
U.P. Utilipty Pole
Urin. Urinal
Util. Utilities
VB Vapor Barrier/Vinyl Base
VC Vinyl Composition
VIF Verify in Field
VTR Vent Through Roof
Vent. Ventilate
Vert. Vertical
Vest. Vestibule
W Wide/Women
W. Washer
w/ With
w/o Without
WC Water Closet
WD Window Dimension
Wd. Wood
Wdw. Window
W.H. Water Heater
WP Work Point
WR Water Resistant
Wsct. Wainscot
Wt. Weight
Wtg. Waiting 
W.W.M. Welded Wire Mesh

377



 

Copyright R. Wayne Williamson, AIA

Date: 7/2/18

A2
Sheet Number

Sheet Name

FLOOR PLAN
 

Drawn By Checked By

RWW RWW

CAD File Name
Building 1 Plan

Project Number

018019

Da
te

DK
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
TH

IS
 P

LA
N,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

AN
D 

CO
NC

EP
T,

 IS
 T

HE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

R.
 W

AY
NE

 W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N,

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
AN

D 
IS

 P
RO

TE
CT

ED
 U

ND
ER

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
LA

W
. U

NA
UT

OR
IZ

ED
 U

SE
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
  
  

20
18

BY
 R

. W
AY

NE
 W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N,
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

A 
Ne

w
 F

ac
ili

ty
 a

t:

93
6 V

ik
in

g 
Ro

ad
Bu

ild
in

g 
#1

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

De
sc

rip
tio

n 
of

 R
ev

is
io

n

60
4 C

la
y 

St
re

et
, C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

31
9-

76
8-

72
35

R.
 W

ay
ne

 W
ill

ia
m

so
n,

 A
rc

hi
te

ct

GENERAL NOTES
1. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS, DIMENSIONS ETC, PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION AND 

SHALL MAKE ANY 'MINOR' REVISIONS NECESSARY AS FIELD CONDITIONS, PERMIT, PROVIDED THE INTENDED 
PURPOSE OF THE ENTIRE PROJECT AND THE FINAL OUTCOME ARE RETAINED.

2. PRIOR TO SUBMITTING PROPOSALS, BIDDERS SHALL EXAMINE DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ON 
DRAWINGS, MAKE PERSONAL EXAMINATION OF THE SITE AND INFORM THEMSELVES FULLY AS TO ALL 
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS AFFECTING THE WORK AND THEIR PROPOSAL THEREFORE.

3. PROJECT SHALL MEET ALL LOCAL CODES, 2015 IBC, 2015 IFC, 2012 IECC, 2015 IMC, 2015 UPC AND THE 2014 
NEC, AND ALL AMENDMENTS TO CODES ADOPTED BY AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION.

4. PERMITS SHALL BE OBTAINED FROM LOCAL GOVERNING AUTHORITY FOR ALL CONSTRUCTION WORK PRIOR 
TO CONSTRUCTION.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE REQUIRED TYPE AND NUMBER OF 
INSPECTIONS AND SHALL NOTIFY OFFICIALS WELL IN ADVANCE OF ALL SUCH INSPECTIONS.

6. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES OR 
PROCEDURES AND FOR ALL SAFETY PRECAUTIONS USED ON SITE.

7. THE PLANS ARE FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY, ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL FIELD CHECK ALL 
DIMENSIONS, LOCATIONS, AND CONDITIONS, ETC. IN THEIR SCOPE OF WORK

8. DO NOT SCALE DRAWINGS, FOLLOW DIMENSIONS AS SHOWN ON PLANS.
9. ANY MATERIAL OR LABOR NEITHER SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS, NOR SPECIFIED BUT NECESSARY TO 

COMPLETE THE WORK OF A SIMILAR NATURE SHALL BE FURNINSHED WITHOUT ADDITIONAL COST TO THE 
OWNER.

10. ALL CONTRACTORS SHALL FOLLOW THE MATERIAL OR EQUIPMENT RECOMMENDED SPECIFICATIONS, UNLESS 
NOTED OTHERWISE. ALL WORK SHALL BE PERFORMED IN A FIRST CLASS AND WORKMAN LIKE MANNER.

11. THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE SHALL REVIEW AND APPROVE ALL FINISH MATERIALS INCLUDING 
ARCHITECTURAL, MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, ETC., PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF THE WORK.

12. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE PROOF OF HIS LIABILITY INSURANCE TO THE OWNER, PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THE WORK.

13. THE OWNER SHALL PROVIDE PROPERTY INSURANCE AND ALL RISK INSURANCE COVERING THE ENTIRE 
PROJECT SCOPE.

PLUMBING
1. INFORMATION AND LAYOUTS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS ARE SCHEMATIC IN 

DESIGN, AND SHALL BE REVIEWED BY PLUMBING CONTRACTOR AND 
SUPPLIERS.

2. ALL PLUMBINGL WORK FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE DESIGN/BUILD IN 
NATURE AND THE RESPONSIBLITY OF THE INSTALLING CONTRACTOR TO 
PROVIDE COMPLETE WORKING SYSTEMS WHICH COMPLIMENT THE INTENT OF 
THE PROJECT DESIGN AS SHOWN.

COMPLY WITH IRC 2015 - PLUMBING SECTIONS, IOWA STATE PLUMBING CODE 
AND ASME RECOMMENDATIONS.

MECHANICAL
1. INFORMATION AND LAYOUTS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS ARE SCHEMATIC IN 

DESIGN, AND SHALL BE REVIEWED BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR AND 
SUPPLIERS.

2. ALL MECHAINCAL WORK FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE DESIGN/BUILD IN 
NATURE AND THE RESPONSIBLITY OF THE INSTALLING CONTRACTOR TO 
PROVIDE COMPLETE WORKING SYSTEMS WHICH COMPLIMENT THE INTENT OF 
THE PROJECT DESIGN AS SHOWN.

COMPLY WITH IRC 2015 - MECHANICAL SECTIONS, ASHRAE AND SMACNA 
RECOMMENDATIONS.

ELECTRICAL
1. INFORMATION AND LAYOUTS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS ARE SCHEMATIC IN 

DESIGN, AND SHALL BE REVIEWED BY ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR AND 
SUPPLIERS.

2. ALL ELECTRICALL WORK FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE DESIGN/BUILD IN 
NATURE AND THE RESPONSIBLITY OF THE INSTALLING CONTRACTOR TO 
PROVIDE COMPLETE WORKING SYSTEMS WHICH COMPLIMENT THE INTENT OF 
THE PROJECT DESIGN AS SHOWN.

COMPLY WITH IRC 2015 - ELECTRICAL SECTIONS, LOCAL CODES, AND 
LATEST NEC.

THERMAL & MOISTURE PROTECTION
1. THERMAL BUILDING INSULATION AT ASSEMBLIES TO EXTERIOR OR UNHEATED 

SPACES MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF GOVERNING CODES AND UNO, THE 
FOLLOWING MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS.

2. EXTERIOR FRAME WALLS: R-13 CAVITY INSULATION PLUS R-5 INSULATED 
SHEATHING. IF STRUCTURAL SHEATHING COVERS 25 PERCENT OR LESS OF 
THE EXTERIOR, INSULATING SHEATHING IS NOT REQUIRED WHERE 
STRUCTURAL SHEATHING IS USED. IF STRUCTURAL SHEATHING COVERS 
MORE THAN 25 PERCENT OF EXTERIROR, STRUCTURAL SHEATHING SHALL BE 
SUPPLEMENTED WITH INSULATED SHEATHING OF AT LEAST R-2.

3. ROOF: R-30 MINMUM.
4. FLASHING SHEET METAL AS REQUIRED TO PREVENT PENETRATION OF 

WATER THROUGH THE EXTERIOR SHELL OF THE BUILDING. IN ADDITION TO 
COMPLYING WITH THE PERTINENT RECOMMENDATION CONTAINED IN THE 
CURRENT EDITION OF ARCHITECTURAL SHEET METAL MANUAL BY SMACNA. 
ALL IRON SHEET METAL FLASHING SHALL BE HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED 
COMPLYING WITH ASTM A93.

5. GUTTER AND DOWNSPOUT SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE GENERAL 
CONTRACTOR AND APPROVED BY THE OWNER SO AS TO PROVIDE POSITIVE 
ROOF AND SITE DRAINAGE. AT EACH DOWNSPOUT EXITING ON GRADE, 
CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AND INSTALL A SPLASH BLOCK OF 
SUFFICIENT SIZE TO PREVENT ANY DAMAGE TO SURROUNDING SURFACES.

GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES
1. DESCRIPTION OF WORK:

EXTENT OF GYPSUM BOARD ASSEMBLIES IS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS. THE 
WORK INCLUDES, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO INTERIOR FINISH OF NEW 
EXTERIOR WALLS AND NEW INTERIOR PARTITIONS.

2. STANDARDS:
COMPLY WITH THE APPROPRIATE ASTM REQUIREMENTS THAT APPLY TO 
FRAMING INSTALLATION AND WITH UNITED STATES GYPSUM'S "GYPSUM 
CONSTRUCTION HANDBOOK",

ASTM C36 - GYPSUM BOARD, ASTM C840 AND GA-216 FINISHES
ASTM C 1047 - TRIM ACCESSORIES
ASTM C 475 - JOINT TREATMENT MATERIAL
ASTM C 665 - SOUND ATTENUATING BATT INSULATION (UNFACED)

EMPLOY ONLY TRADESMAN EXPERIENCED IN FABRICATION AND 
INSTALLATION OF THIS SECTION.

3. MATERIALS:
METAL STUDS:
    EXTERIOR WALLS: 6", MINIMUM 16 GAUGE @ 16" O.C.
    INTERIOR PARTITIONS 3 5/8", MINIMUM 25 GAUGE @ 16" O.C.
GYPSUM WALL BOARD: 5/8" THICK TYPE 'X' AT ALL
GALVANIZED OR ALUMINUM-COATED STEEL SHEET CORNERBEAD AT OUTSIDE 
CORNERS.
JOINT TAPE
JOINT COMPOUND

4. FINISHING:
PROVIDE LEVEL 2 FINISH: EMBED TAPE AND APPLY SEPERATE FIRST AND 
FILL COATS OF JOINT COMPOUNT TO TAPE, FATENERS, AND TRIM FLANGES. 
ALL JOINT COMPOUND SHALL BE SMOOTH AND FREE OF TOOL MARKS.

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM
1. DESCRIPTION OF WORK:

EXTENT OF ALUMINUM STOREFRONT FRAMING ASSEMBLIES IS SHOWN ON 
DRAWINGS.

THE WORK INCLUDES BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO EXTERIOR STOREFRONT 
SYSTEMS EQUAL TO KAWNEER TRI-FAB 451T.

2. STANDARDS:
COMPLY WITH THE APPROPRIATE ASTM REQUIREMENTS THAT APPLY TO 
ALUMINUM STOREFRONT INSTALLATION.
ASTM E 330 - STRUCTURAL TESTING
ASTM E 283 - AIR INFILTRATION
ASTM E 331 - WATER PENETRATION
NFRC 100 - THERMAL TRANSMITTANCE
ADA 2010 - RAIL SIZE

3. EMPLOY ONLY TRADESMEN EXPERIENCED IN FABRICATION AND 
INSTALLATION OF THIS SECTION.

4. MATERIALS:
ALUMINUM - ALLOY AND TEMPER RECOMMENDED BY MANUFACTURER FOR 
USE AND FINISH, ASTM B 209 SHEET AND ASTM B 221 EXTRUSIONS.
FRAMING MEMBERS - MANUFACTURUER'S STANDARD EXTRUDED ALUMINUM 
FRAMING MEMBERS OF THICKNESS REQUIRED AND REIFORCED AS 
REQUIRTED TO SUPPORT IMPOSED LOADS.
CONSTRUCTION - THERMALLY BROKEN FRAMING MEMBERS
DOORS - 1 3/4" THICK GLAZED DOORS WITH MINIUM 0.125" THICK EXTRUDED 
ALUMINUM TUBULAR RAIL & STILE MEMBERS, MECHANICALLY FASTEN 
CORNERS WITH REINFORCING. MEDIUM THICKNESS STILES ANTOP RAIL WITH 
MINIMUM 10" BOTTOM RAIL.

5. FINISH: CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM

METAL DOORS
1. CONSTRUCTION:

18 GA. COLD ROLLED, STRETCHER LEVELED, BONDERIZED STEEL SURFACE 
PANELS REINFORCED AND STIFFENED WITH HONEYCOMB CORE.
16 GA. STILES, AND TOP & BOTTOM RAILS, WELDED TO SURFACE SHEETS 
AT MAXIMUM 2" O.C..
STEEL REINFORCEMENT OF MINIMUM 10 GA. FOR HINGES, MINIMUM 12 GA. 
FOR CLOSERS, AND MINIMUM 14 GA. FOR HARDWARE.
MEMBERS SHALL BE WELL FORMED, SQUARE, FLAT, IN TRUE ALIGNMENT  
AND SHALL BE REINFORCED FOR ALL HARDWARE.

2. UNITS SHALL BE EQUAL TO STEELCRAFT MANUFACTURING 'L' SERIES.

GLAZING
1. DESCRIPTION OF WORK:

EXTENT OF GLAZING IS SHOWN ON DRAWINGS.

THE WORK INCLUDES BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO EXTERIOR STOREFRONT 
SYSTEM

2. STANDARDS:
COMPLY WITH THE APPROPRIATE ASTM REQUIREMENTS THAT APPLY TO 
GLAZING INSTALLATION.
ASTM E 1996 - WIND BORNE DEBRIS RESISTENCE
IGMA PUBLICATION FOR INSULATING GLASS - SIGMA TM-3000 "NORTH 
AMERICAN GLAZING GUIDELINES FOR SEALED INSULATING GLASS UNITS FOR 
COMMERCIAL AND RESIDENTIAL USE."

3. EMPLOY ONLY TRADESMEN EXPERIENCED IN FABRICATION AND 
INSTALLATION OF THIS SECTION.

4. GLASS TYPES: 1" TINTED, LOW-E COATED INSULATED, TEMPERED GLASS
5. FINISH: LIGHT GRAY AS SELECTED BY OWNER

E.P.

7'-
0"

5'-
0"

20
'-0

"

45
'-0

"

50
'-6

"

52
'-0

"

03

A

1.

1-01A
UTIL.

MECH./

2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.

A.

B.

13'-4" 4'-0" 3'-0" 4'-0" 3'-0" 5'-0" 9'-0" 4'-0" 6'-0" 4'-0" 9'-0" 4'-0" 9'-0" 4'-0" 3'-0" 4'-0" 6'-0" 13'-0" 4'-0" 15'-0" 12'-0" 4'-0"

162'-8"

1-01
LEASE SPACE

1-02
LEASE SPACE

1-02A
UTIL.

MECH./

1-03
LEASE SPACE

1-03A
UTIL.

MECH./

1-04
SERV
BLD01A

01B

02

02B

02A

04 03B

1'-6"

03A

9"
9"

6'-4" 4"

A D B D

4" 6'-4"

B

CC

E

3 
5/

8" 2'-
4"

20
'-0

"
22

'-8
"

3 
5/

8"

50
'-6

"
9"

9"

2'-0" 6'-8" 30'-4" 3'-4" 13'-8" 6'-8" 16'-0" 3'-4" 9'-8" 3'-4" 4'-8" 3'-4" 56'-8"

159'-8"

E

2'-8"6'-4"

17'-4"

19'-8"15'-8"29'-0"18'-8"25'-0"25'-0"

1'-6"1'-6"

29'-8"

1'-6"

A

FUTURE SLAB ON GRADE - 
SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

FUTURE SLAB ON GRADE - 
SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

FUTURE SLAB ON GRADE - 
SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

CONCRETE 
FLOOR SLAB @ 
MECH ROOM

E.P. HWH
FD

FURN
CONCRETE 
FLOOR SLAB @ 
MECH ROOM

E.P. HWH
FD

FURN

E.P.

W
AT

ER

CONCRETE 
FLOOR SLAB @ 
BLDG. SERV.

HWH ABOVE SLOP SINK

FURN
FD

CONCRETE 
FLOOR SLAB @ 
MECH ROOM

SHELL FLOOR PLAN
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4
A2

A.

B.
02

OPEN TO UNDERSIDE OF ROOF SYSTEM OPEN TO UNDERSIDE OF ROOF SYSTEM OPEN TO UNDERSIDE OF ROOF SYSTEM

CUMARU WOOD 2x8 OUTLOOKERS WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER
STEEL CHANNEL FRAME - PAINT

STEEL SOFFIT ABOVE

CUMARU WOOD 2x8 OUTLOOKERS WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER
STEEL CHANNEL FRAME - PAINT

STEEL SOFFIT ABOVE

REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2
A2

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.

3'-
0"

OV
ER

HA
NG

EQ. EQ.

1
12

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF SYSTEM
SLOPE 1:12 TO CONTINUOUS GUTTER ON
BACK OF BUILDING WITH SIMPLE SAVER
INSULATION - MIN R-30

8" x 8" GUTTER WITH 4" x 6" DOWNSPOUTS ONTO GRADE

ROOF PLAN
Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

3
A2

378



 

Copyright R. Wayne Williamson, AIA

Date: 7/2/18

A3
Sheet Number

Sheet Name

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS
 

Drawn By Checked By

RWW RWW

CAD File Name
Building 1 Plan

Project Number

018019

Da
te

DK
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
TH

IS
 P

LA
N,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

AN
D 

CO
NC

EP
T,

 IS
 T

HE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

R.
 W

AY
NE

 W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N,

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
AN

D 
IS

 P
RO

TE
CT

ED
 U

ND
ER

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
LA

W
. U

NA
UT

OR
IZ

ED
 U

SE
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
  
  

20
18

BY
 R

. W
AY

NE
 W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N,
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

A 
Ne

w
 F

ac
ili

ty
 a

t:

93
6 V

ik
in

g 
Ro

ad
Bu

ild
in

g 
#1

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

De
sc

rip
tio

n 
of

 R
ev

is
io

n

60
4 C

la
y 

St
re

et
, C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

31
9-

76
8-

72
35

R.
 W

ay
ne

 W
ill

ia
m

so
n,

 A
rc

hi
te

ct

18
'-0

"

18
'-0

"

SIGNAGE SIGNAGE SIGNAGE

4

4

1

1

2 1 2

5

6

6

7

8

9

3

1

1

2 1

3

2 1

1

2 1

1

4

4

1

1

1

1

2 21

3

1

3

2

2

2

2

2

2

1

1 3 1

5

6

6

7

8

9

01 A A D

D1

D

D1

B 02 B

B1

03

4

4 4

9

1

1 CC

01B02B03B 04

5

7

10

1

1

9

1

1

1

5

7

10

9

10

6

1

7

1

10

5

5

5

1

1

2 1

3

4

4

8

7

6

4

4

9

E

10

6

1

7

1

10

5

5

5

1

1

21

3

4

4

8

7

6

4

4

9

E

SOUTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

1
A2

NORTH ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

3
A2

EAST ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2
A2

WEST ELEVATION
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4
A2

2 11

A

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - CHARCOAL

7/8" VERTICAL CORRUGATED METAL PANEL - SILVER

ROCK FACED CEMENT MASONRY UNITS - GRAY COLOR

CUMARU WOOD SHIPLAP SIDING WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

GALVANIZED STEEL FRAME PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

STEEL SOFFIT AND FASCIA TRIM - SILVER

GALVANIZED STEEL CHANNEL PAINTED BONE WHITE, 2 COATS OVER PRIMER, SEMI-GLOSS

CUMARU WOOD 2 x 8 OUTLOOKERS WITH NATURAL COLOR SEALER

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF - GALVALUME

EXTERIOR FINISH GUIDE
NOTE: ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS MUST HAVE A SAMPLE APPROVED BY THE ARCHITECT BEFORE

MATERIALS ARE ORDERED

8 x 8 GUTTER & 4 x 6 DOWNSPOUTS - CHARCOAL

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

10
'-0

"

3'-
9 

3/
4"

2'-
8"

DOOR AND OPENING SCHEDULE
PLAN

NUMBER ELEV. WIDTH HEIGHT THICKNESS MATERIAL

DOOR

ELEV. MATERIAL

FRAME HARDWARE
GROUP REMARKS

01 A PR. 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" AL/GL 1 ALUM. 1 --

DOOR HARDWARE GROUPS
NOTE: ALL HANDLE SETS SHALL BE SCHLAGE AL SERIES LEVER LATCHES, GRADE 2 CYLINDRICAL LOCKS - 
SATURN STYLE, SATIN CHROME FINISH. ALL OTHER HARDWARE SHALL BE AS INDICATED IN FINISH TO MATCH 
LATCH SET.

HARDWARE GROUP #1
NOTE: ALL HARDWARE (AS WELL AS ALL ITEMS REQUIRED FOR PROPER 
FUNCTION) IN THIS GROUP TO BE PROVIDED AND INSTALLED BY 
STOREFRONT CONTRACTOR

3 PAIR STAINLESS STEEL HINGES (STANLEY 179 SERIES OR EQUAL)
2 INTERIOR PUSH BAR EXIT DEVICES WITH CONCEALED RODS & 
DOGGING (VON DUPRIN 99 SERIES OR EQUAL)
LOW ENERGY CLOSERS (LCN 1441 OR EQUAL) 
2 ADA PUSH BUTTONS 
2 EXTERIOR DOOR PULLS
THRESHOLD 
WEATHERSTRIPPING

FUNCTION: KEYED EXTERIOR ACCESS AT ANYTIME, KEYED LOCKING FOR 
AFTER HOURS WITH PUSH BAR INTERIOR EXIT AT ANYTIME, DOGGING 
FEATURE TO ALLOW FREE OPERATION OF BOTH LEAFS DURING 
BUSINESS HOURS, AT LEAST ONE LEAF TO MEET ALL ADA AND 
ACCEESSIBLITY STANDARDS.

HARDWARE GROUP #3
NOTE: ALL HANDLE SETS SHALL BE SCHLAGE AL SERIES LEVER 
LATCHES, GRADE 2 CYLINDRICAL LOCKS - SATURN STYLE, SATIN 
CHROME FINISH. ALL OTHER HARDWARE SHALL BE AS INDICATED IN 
FINISH TO MATCH LATCH SET.

3 STAINLESS STEEL EXTERIOR HINGES (STANLEY 179 SERIES OR 
EQUAL)
STORAGE LATCH LEVER TRIM
CYLINDER LOCK KEYED EXTERIOR
OVERHEAD STOP
THRESHOLD
WEATHERSTRIPPING

FUNCTION: KEYED EXTERIOR ACCESS AT ANYTIME, LEVER OPERATED 
INTERIOR EXIT AT ANYTIME, SECURITY CYLINDER WITH KEYED 
OPERATION ON EXTERIOR & THUMB TURN FROM INTERIOR.

DOOR TYPES

7'-
0"

3'-0"

A.
1 3/4" ALUMINUM ENTRY DOOR, MEDIUM

STILE (3 1/2" SIDE RAILS, 3 1/2" TOP
RAIL & 10" BOTTOM RAIL). THERMALLY
BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM
WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED TEMPERED

GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER 360 INSULCLAD OR EQUAL.

7'-
0"

SEE SCHED

B.
1 3/4" INSULATED 18 GAUGE,

HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED HOLLOW
STEEL FLUSH DOOR, U-VALUE 0.41 OR
BETTER. REINFORCED FOR HARDWARE.

CECO DOOR
#CHMDXFL3070XCYL-CU-18GA OR EQUAL.

WINDOW TYPES

3'-0"

2 1/4" 2 1/4"
10

"
2'-

2"
2"

2"

10
'-0

"

2 
1/

4"

NOTE: TEMPERED GLASS WHERE REQUIRED

3'-0" 3'-0"

6'-0"

2 1/4" 2 1/4"

3'-
9 

3/
4"

2'-
8"

10
"

2'-
2"

2"
2"

10
'-0

"

2 
1/

4"

3'-0 3/8" 2'-11 1/8" 3'-0 3/8"

9'-0"

3'-
9 

3/
4"

2'-
8"

10
"

2'-
2"

2"
2"

10
'-0

"

2 
1/

4"

3'-4" 3'-4"

6'-8"

2 1/4" 2 1/4"

3'-
9 

3/
4"

2'-
8"

10
"

2'-
2"

2"
2"

10
'-0

"

2 
1/

4"

2 1/4"2 1/4"

20'-0"

3'-4 7/8"

2 1/4"

3'-3 5/8" 3'-3 5/8" 3'-4 7/8"

2 1/4"

3'-3 5/8"3'-3 5/8"

2 
1/

4"
3'-

1 
3/

4"
3'-

10
"

1'-
8"

2"
10

"
2"

2'-
8"

10
"

3'-
10

"
2"

2'-
1 

3/
4"

2"
2 

1/
4"

5'-
0"

2 
1/

4"
2'-

7 
3/

4"
2"

2 
1/

4"
1'-

9 
3/

4"

5'-
0"

2 
1/

4"
2'-

7 
3/

4"
2"

2 
1/

4"
1'-

9 
3/

4"

DOOR FRAME TYPES

1.
THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED
TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR
BETTER. KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR

EQUAL.

2.
16 GAUGE, HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED

HOLLOW STEEL FLUSH DOOR FRAME.
FULLY WELDED CONSTRUCTION,

REINFORCED FOR HARDWARE. CECO
DOOR  OR EQUAL.

7'-
0"

7'-
0"

2"

2" 2"

A.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

B1.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

C.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

D1.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

E.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

2"

2" 6'-0" 2"

10
'-0

"

3'-2" 3'-2"

D.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

B.
 THERMALLY BROKEN CLEAR ANODIZED
ALUMINUM WITH CLEAR 1" INSULATED

TEMPERED GLASS, U-VALUE 0.35 OR BETTER.
KAWNEER TRIFAB 451-T OR EQUAL.

01A B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 2 --

01B B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 3 --

HARDWARE GROUP #2
NOTE: ALL HANDLE SETS SHALL BE SCHLAGE AL SERIES LEVER 
LATCHES, GRADE 2 CYLINDRICAL LOCKS - SATURN STYLE, SATIN 
CHROME FINISH. ALL OTHER HARDWARE SHALL BE AS INDICATED IN 
FINISH TO MATCH LATCH SET.

3 STAINLESS STEEL EXTERIOR HINGES (STANLEY 179 SERIES OR 
EQUAL)
STORAGE LATCH LEVER TRIM

FUNCTION: KEYED EXTERIOR ACCESS AT ANYTIME, LEVER OPERATED 
INTERIOR EXIT AT ANYTIME.

02 A PR. 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" AL/GL 1 ALUM. 1 --

02A B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 2 --

02B B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 3 --

03 A PR. 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" AL/GL 1 ALUM. 1 --

03A B PR.2'-8" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 2 --

03B B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 3 --

04 B 3'-0" 7'-0" 1 3/4" H.M. 2 H.M. 3 --

SEE SCHED

HARDWARE GROUP #4
3 PAIR STAINLESS STEEL HINGES (STANLEY 179 SERIES OR EQUAL)
STOREROOM LEVER LATCH
MANUAL VERTICAL RODS ON INACTIVE LEAF

FUNCTION: KEYED EXTERIOR ACCESS AT ANYTIME, LEVER OPERATED 
INTERIOR EXIT AT ANYTIME.

379



 

Copyright R. Wayne Williamson, AIA

Date: 7/2/18

A4
Sheet Number

Sheet Name

WALL SECTIONS
 

Drawn By Checked By

RWW RWW

CAD File Name
Building 1 Plan

Project Number

018019

Da
te

DK
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
TH

IS
 P

LA
N,

 IN
CL

UD
IN

G 
TH

E 
DE

SI
GN

AN
D 

CO
NC

EP
T,

 IS
 T

HE
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y 

O
F

R.
 W

AY
NE

 W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N,

 A
RC

HI
TE

CT
AN

D 
IS

 P
RO

TE
CT

ED
 U

ND
ER

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
LA

W
. U

NA
UT

OR
IZ

ED
 U

SE
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

.

CO
PY

RI
GH

T 
  
  

20
18

BY
 R

. W
AY

NE
 W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N,
 A

RC
HI

TE
CT

A 
Ne

w
 F

ac
ili

ty
 a

t:

93
6 V

ik
in

g 
Ro

ad
Bu

ild
in

g 
#1

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

De
sc

rip
tio

n 
of

 R
ev

is
io

n

60
4 C

la
y 

St
re

et
, C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
, I

A
 5

06
13

31
9-

76
8-

72
35

R.
 W

ay
ne

 W
ill

ia
m

so
n,

 A
rc

hi
te

ct

FINISHED FLOOR
ELEV.: 100'-0"

CONCRETE FOOTING & 
FOUNDATION - SEE 
STRUCTURAL DETAILS

BTM. OF FOOTING
ELEV.: 96'-0"

2" R-7.5 PERIMETER 
INSULATION

MIN. 4" COMPACTED GRAVEL 

FUTURE 4" CONCRETE SLAB ON  
10 MIL. POLY VAPOR BARRIER, 
UNDER SEPARATE CONTRACT

1/2" RIGID INSULATION 
THERMAL BREAK

CONTINUOUS SILL SEALER

SLOPE CONC. WALK AWAY 
FROM BUILDING

EXTERIOR FINISH - SEE ELEVATIONS 
(VERTICAL 7/8" CORREGATED METAL PANEL 
WITH MATCHING FASTENERS & CLOSURES 
EQUAL TO PAC-CLAD SHOWN)

CONT. VAPOR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
TYVEK COMMERCIAL WRAP

1 1/2" CONTINUOUS XPS INSULATION 
(MIN. R-5) EQUAL TO OWENS CORNING 
FOAMULAR 150

6" METAL STUDS,
18 GAUGE @ 16" O.C. MAX

MINIMUM R-13 INSULATION IN ALL STUD 
CAVITIES, CONTRACTORS OPTION FOR 
UNFACED BATT INSULATION OR CLOSED 
CELL SPRAY FOAM

CONT. AIR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
CERTAINTEED MEMBRAIN

MIN. 1/2" PLYWOOD OR OSB 
SHEATHING

FUTURE GYP. BOARD FINISH, UNDER 
SEPARATE CONTRACT

STEEL FRAME BEYOND BY METAL 
BUILDING CONTRACTOR - SEE 
STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

12
1

R-40 SIMPLE SAVER TYPE  SYSTEM W/ 
FABRIC INNER LINING DRAWN TIGHT:
3" R-10 INSULATION OVER
9 1/4" R-30 BATT INSULATION, BY METAL 
BUILDING CONTRACTOR

PURLINS BY METAL BUILDING CONTRACTOR - 
SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF SYSTEM BY 
METAL BUILDING CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL CLOSURE 
AND FASCIA BY METAL BUIDING 
CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL SOFFIT 
BY METAL BUIDING 
CONTRACTOR

CONT. C5x6.7 STEEL CHANNEL BOLT 
THROUGH STUDS @ 32" O.C. MAX. - 
PAINT

CONT. 'Z' FLASHING WITH 
HEMMED EDGE

4'-
0"

10
'-0

"
11

'-0
"

3'-0"

1'-
6 

1/
2"

12
1

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF SYSTEM BY 
METAL BUILDING CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL CLOSURE AND 
FASCIA BY METAL BUIDING 
CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL SOFFIT BY 
METAL BUIDING CONTRACTOR

2" R-7.5 PERIMETER INSULATION

MIN. 4" COMPACTED GRAVEL 

R-40 SIMPLE SAVER TYPE  SYSTEM W/ 
FABRIC INNER LINING DRAWN TIGHT:
3" R-10 INSULATION OVER
9 1/4" R-30 BATT INSULATION, BY METAL 
BUILDING CONTRACTOR

PURLINS BY METAL BUILDING 
CONTRACTOR - SEE STRUCTURAL 
DRAWINGS

6" METAL STUDS,
18 GAUGE @ 16" O.C. MAX

MINIMUM R-19 INSULATION IN ALL STUD 
CAVITIES, CONTRACTORS OPTION FOR 
UNFACED BATT INSULATION OR CLOSED 
CELL SPRAY FOAM

CONT. AIR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
CERTAINTEED MEMBRAIN

CONT. C5x6.7 STEEL
CHANNEL BOLT THROUGH STUDS 
@ 32" O.C. MAX. - PAINT

CONT. 'Z' FLASHING 
WITH HEMMED EDGE

CONT. VAPOR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
TYVEK COMMERCIAL WRAP

1 1/2" CONTINUOUS XPS INSULATION 
(MIN. R-5) EQUAL TO OWENS 
CORNING FOAMULAR 150

MIN. 1/2" PLYWOOD OR 
OSB SHEATHING

FUTURE 4" CONCRETE SLAB ON  10 
MIL. POLY VAPOR BARRIER, UNDER 
SEPARATE CONTRACT

FUTURE GYP. BOARD FINISH, UNDER 
SEPARATE CONTRACT

EXTERIOR FINISH - SEE ELEVATIONS 
(CUMARU SHIP LAP WOOD SIDING)

GLASS & ALUMINUM ENTRY 
DOOR SYSTEM WITH TRANSOM 
EQUAL TO KAWNEER 451-T 

THRESHOLD SET 
IN MASTIC

STEEL FRAME BEYOND BY METAL BUILDING 
CONTRACTOR - SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

2 x 8 CEDAR OUTLOOKERS 
SPACED @ 12" O.C.

CONT. C5x6.7 STEEL CHANNEL 
MITRE & CONNECT WITH 1/4" FILET 
WELD AT CORNER

U-SHAPED CONNECTOR WELD TO CHANNEL 
FOR EACH OUTLOOKER ATTACHED TO 
CHANNEL 

R-40 SIMPLE SAVER TYPE  SYSTEM W/ 
FABRIC INNER LINING DRAWN TIGHT:
3" R-10 INSULATION OVER
9 1/4" R-30 BATT INSULATION, BY METAL 
BUILDING CONTRACTOR

6" METAL STUDS,
18 GAUGE @ 16" O.C. MAX

MINIMUM R-13 INSULATION IN ALL 
STUD CAVITIES, CONTRACTORS OPTION 
FOR UNFACED BATT INSULATION OR 
CLOSED CELL SPRAY FOAM

CONT. AIR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
CERTAINTEED MEMBRAIN

CONT. 'Z' FLASHING WITH 
HEMMED EDGE

CONT. VAPOR BARRIER EQUAL TO 
TYVEK COMMERCIAL WRAP

1" CONTINUOUS XPS INSULATION (MIN. 
R-5) EQUAL TO OWENS CORNING 
FOAMULAR 150

MIN. 1/2" PLYWOOD OR OSB 
SHEATHING

FINISHED FLOOR
ELEV.: 100'-0"

CONCRETE FOOTING & FOUNDATION - 
SEE STRUCTURAL DETAILS

BTM. OF FOOTING
ELEV.: 96'-0"

2" R-7.5 PERIMETER INSULATION

MIN. 4" COMPACTED GRAVEL 

FUTURE 4" CONCRETE SLAB ON  
10 MIL. POLY VAPOR BARRIER, 
UNDER SEPARATE CONTRACT

CONT. C5x6.7 STEEL CHANNEL BOLT 
THROUGH STUDS @ 32" O.C. MAX. - 
PAINT

STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF SYSTEM 
BY METAL BUILDING CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL CLOSURE 
AND FASCIA BY METAL BUIDING 
CONTRACTOR

PREFINISHED METAL 
SOFFIT BY METAL BUIDING 
CONTRACTOR

EXTERIOR FINISH - SEE ELEVATIONS 
(VERTICAL 7/8" CORREGATED METAL 
PANEL WITH MATCHING FASTENERS & 
CLOSURES EQUAL TO PAC-CLAD 
SHOWN)

BOXED 10" METAL STUD HEADER, 
STUFF WITH INSULATION

FUTURE GYP. BOARD FINISH, UNDER 
SEPARATE CONTRACT

FUTURE GYP. BOARD FINISH, UNDER 
SEPARATE CONTRACT

GLASS & ALUMINUM WINDOW SYSTEM 
EQUAL TO KAWNEER 451-T 

STEEL FRAME BEYOND BY METAL 
BUILDING CONTRACTOR - SEE 
STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

FINISHED FLOOR
ELEV.: 100'-0"

BTM. OF FOOTING
ELEV.: 96'-0"

4'-
0"

10
'-0

"
11

'-0
"

1'-
6 

1/
2"

10'-0"

2'-4" 7'-0"

WALL SECTION
Scale: 3/4" = 1'-0"

1
A4

WALL SECTION
Scale: 3/4" = 1'-0"

2
A4

WALL SECTION
Scale: 3/4" = 1'-0"

3
A4

380



381



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: November 29, 2018  

 SUBJECT: Midland Atlantic Development Company Developmental Agreement 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Approve Developmental Agreement for HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning 
District 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Midland Atlantic Development Company, L.L.C. 
 

LOCATION: 
 

Southwest corner of Highway 58 and W. Ridgeway Avenue 

 

 
On November 5, 2018, City Council approved 
the final reading of the rezoning of this 
property from A-1 Agricultural District to 
HWY-1 Highway Commercial District along 
with a conditional zoning agreement. At that 
same meeting City Council approved a 
Highway 20 Overlay Zoning District site plan 
for the new retail development on the site, 
subject to approval of a development 
agreement to address the public 
improvements necessary to support the 
development of the property under the HWY-
1 Zoning. The rezoning of the property and 
site plan approval will allow for construction of 
a new 257,000 square foot Fleet Farm retail 
store with yard area, along with a new Fleet 
Farm convenience store/gas station. Three 
future retail buildings totaling 55,000 square 
feet are also shown on the development site plan just to 
the north of the retail building, and two future buildable 
lots along the east side of the property are also shown. However, the future retail buildings and 
future outlots are not a part of this site plan review.  
 
 

Proposed Development Site 

382



As part of the rezoning request, the developer and City have been working on drafting an 
acceptable developmental agreement, for the purpose of outlining the public roadway 
improvements that will be necessary as part of this development project. Development of the 
site will significantly increase the traffic to and from the site, which will have an impact on the 
traffic volumes and circulation on adjacent roadways such that certain public improvements will 
be necessary to meet the public needs generated by the proposed development. 
 
In order to determine the improvements to the public roadways necessary to support the 
development of this property, the City required the applicant to conduct a traffic study.  The 
traffic study was originally submitted to the City on July 23, 2018, and a review of the study was 
completed by City staff and by City-hired peer review. It was determined that certain corrections 
needed to be made to the study to adequately address future traffic impacts, including 
assessment of a number of alternative options for access at the proposed main entrance and at 
Nordic Drive.  

 
On October 1, 2018, the applicant submitted a revised traffic study to the City. City staff 
reviewed the latest traffic study submitted by the developer’s traffic consultant Bayer Becker, 
and it has also been peer reviewed by a traffic engineering consultant hired by the City. There is 
a memo included in the Council materials from the City Engineer outlining the City’s assessment 
of the traffic study and the City staff’s recommended roadway improvements necessary to 
accommodate the traffic generated by the proposed development, while balancing the needs of 
adjacent property owners and businesses in the area. The developer’s traffic engineer has also 
submitted a site plan showing the agreed upon Phase I and Phase II roadway improvements, 
which is also included in the submittal materials. 

 
The developer and staff have agreed on the public improvements that will be needed, which are 
spelled out within the development agreement. In general, it is recommended that a roundabout 
be installed on W. Ridgeway Avenue at the intersection of Driveway #1 (main drive into the 
Midland development), and that the intersection of Nordic Drive and W. Ridgeway Avenue 
become a fully signalized intersection. Additional improvements will also be necessary at the 
intersection of Ridgeway Avenue and Highway 58.  The Iowa DOT is currently considering plans 
for improvements to this intersection, with a tentative timeline for construction by 2023. 
However, they are in the early planning stages, so details are not yet available. Due to physical 
constraints at this intersection, including the location of large culverts and wetlands in the 
ditches, the developer and City have proposed phasing the improvements. Staff and the 
developer agree that it is reasonable to construct the improvements in two phases:  

 

 Phase I: The Phase I Roadway Improvements shall generally include: 
o Construction of a 2-lane roundabout. Right-of-way on the north side of W. Ridgeway 

Avenue shall be secured by the City of Cedar Falls to facilitate the roundabout design. 
Any right-of-way that is needed on the south side of W. Ridgeway Avenue to facilitate 
the roundabout design shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner or Developer at no 
cost to the City. 

o Construction of a signalized intersection on W. Ridgeway Avenue at Nordic Drive/Site 
Drive #2. A temporary signal may be installed until the Phase II Roadway 
Improvements are completed.   

o These improvements include a 5-foot wide sidewalk to be installed along W. 
Ridgeway Avenue from the west property line to the intersection of Ridgeway and 
Nordic/Drive #2, with crosswalks at this intersection and at the roundabout. 

o Any right-of-way that is needed along the South side of W. Ridgeway Avenue and 
along the west side of Highway 58 to complete the Phase I and Phase II Roadway 383



Improvements shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner or Developer within 30 
days of written notice from the City, at no cost to the City. 

o Any temporary construction or permanent access and utility easements that may be 
needed on the Real Estate for the Phase I Roadway Improvements shall be granted 
by the Owner or Developer to the City (so long as the same do not encroach into the 
building pad for the convenience store building or gas station canopy or signage 
location as shown on the approved Site Plan). Such easements shall be granted to 
the City by the Owner or Developer at no cost to the City in a form reasonably 
acceptable to the Owner, Developer and City. The City, Owner and Developer will 
work together to minimize impacts to the planned improvements on the Real Estate. 

 

 Phase II: The Phase II Roadway Improvements shall generally include: 
o Any necessary upgrades to the traffic signals at the intersection of W. Ridgeway 

Avenue and Highway 58. 
o Install dual left turn lanes along eastbound W. Ridgeway Avenue. 
o Install dual left turn lanes along west bound W. Ridgeway Avenue at Nordic Drive. 
o Install right turn lane along eastbound W. Ridgeway Avenue at Hwy 58. 
o Install right turn lane along westbound W. Ridgeway Avenue at Nordic Drive. 
o Install any retaining walls necessary along W. Ridgeway Avenue to support the 

roadway improvements and the required public sidewalk. 
o Reconstruct culverts, as necessary.  
o Any additional right-of-way that is needed along the south side of W. Ridgeway 

Avenue or west side of Highway 58 adjacent to the Real Estate to facilitate the Phase 
II Roadway Improvements shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner or Developer 
within 30 days of written notice from the City, at no cost to the City. 

o Construction of the Phase II Roadway Improvements shall be completed by the City 
and/or IDOT at no additional cost to the Owner or Developer. 

o Any temporary or permanent easements that may be needed for the Phase II 
Roadway Improvements shall be provided to the City by the Owner or Developer at 
no cost to the City within 30 days of written notice from the City, and shall be granted 
in a form reasonably acceptable to the City. The City, Owner and Developer will work 
together to minimize impacts to the planned improvements on the Real Estate. 

 
Also included in the Phase I and Phase II Roadway Improvements is a public sidewalk that will 
be constructed along the W. Ridgeway Avenue frontage of the property. It has been agreed that 
the sidewalk portion from the west property line to Nordic Drive will be completed in conjunction 
with the Phase I Roadway Improvements, and the sidewalk portion from Nordic Drive to 
Highway 58 will be completed in conjunction with the Phase II Roadway Improvements. 
 
In order to construct the public improvements, there may be additional impacts to the wetlands 
located in the ditch along W. Ridgeway Avenue between Site Drive #2 and Highway 58. The 
proposed development agreement states that the City and the Developer will be joint applicants 
on any required permits needed due to impacts to the wetlands. Any mitigation required will be 
paid for by the City using the funds that the Developer pays to the City according to the 
agreement.  
 
For the Phase I and Phase II Roadway Improvements, the City has estimated the total cost of 
construction to be approximately $4,065,000.00. The agreement indicates that the City will 
construct the improvements listed in both phases, with the Phase I Roadway Improvements 
being completed in 2019, and with a tentative construction timeline for the Phase II Roadway 
Improvements in 2020 or 2021. The agreement indicates that the developer will pay the City a 384



lump sum cash payment of $1,708,000.00, which the parties have agreed is a good faith 
estimate of the Developer’s equitable share of the cost of the Public Improvements deemed 
necessary to provide for safe and efficient traffic control and circulation as well as pedestrian 
safety to serve the long term needs caused by development of this property under the HWY-1 
Zoning.   
 
A draft of the development agreement by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, VEREIT 
Real Estate, L.P., Mills Properties, LLC and Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC is 
attached for your review.  This agreement has been reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers, 
and the developer, owner and tenant of the property.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
The Community Development Department has reviewed the development agreement and 
recommends that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a development agreement by and 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., Mills Properties, LLC, 
and Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed development agreement, please contact the 
Community Development Department. 
     

385



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
HWY-1 HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICT 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 

This development agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into this _______day of 

_____________________, 20___, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

“City”, VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, hereinafter called “Owner”, Mills 

Properties LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereinafter called “Tenant”, and Midland Atlantic 

Development Company, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, hereinafter called “Developer”, for the 

purpose of outlining procedures to be followed and requirements to be satisfied, all in connection with 

the development of certain land located at the southwest corner of W. Ridgeway Avenue and Iowa 

Highway 58, in Cedar Falls, Iowa, containing approximately 49.52 acres, more or less, said land being 

legally described as follows: 

 

All that part of the East ½ of the Northwest Fractional Quarter of Section 2, Township 88 North, 

Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., Black Hawk County, Iowa, lying Northerly of Highway No. 20 

described in 539 LD 76 and 571 LD 973, except those parts conveyed for public highway in 113 LD 

199 and 539 LD 85, and also except that part thereof conveyed to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, in 

Doc. No. 2011-00009788, 

 

AND 

 

All that part of the West ½ of the Northeast Fractional Quarter of Section 2, Township 88 North, 

Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., Black Hawk County, Iowa, lying Northerly and Westerly of 

Highway No. 20 described in 539 LD 76 and lying Westerly and Southerly of the public highway 

described in 569 LD 205 and 539 LD 85, 
 

hereinafter called the “Real Estate”; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Owner, which owns or shall acquire the Real Estate in fee simple, 

the Tenant, which owns or will acquire a long-term leasehold interest in the Real Estate pursuant to a lease 

agreement between Owner, as lessor, and Tenant, as lessee (the “Lease”), and Developer, which has entered 

into or will enter into an agreement with Tenant, to develop the Real Estate within the city limits of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, as part of the HWY-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the Owner, Tenant, and Developer acknowledge that proposed development of the Real 

Estate will significantly increase vehicular traffic to and from the site as well as on adjacent public roadways 

and also lead to additional pedestrian and bicycle traffic, such that certain public improvements are necessary 

to meet public needs generated by the proposed development; and 

386



 

2 
 

12162477 v5 

 

 WHEREAS,  Ordinance No. 2933, a Conditional Zoning Agreement, has been approved by the City 

Council of the City upon its third and final consideration on November 5, 2018 (hereinafter called the 

“Conditional Zoning Agreement”), acknowledging that certain conditions and restrictions are reasonable to 

ensure the development of the Real Estate is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, including sidewalk, 

street, intersection, and traffic control improvements to provide for safe and efficient pedestrian and traffic 

control and circulation; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City of Cedar Falls to insure that said development proceeds in an 

orderly manner, and that the Owner, Tenant and Developer comply with all applicable city ordinances, city 

policies and practices, and otherwise act in conformity with public health, safety, morals and general welfare 

of the citizens of Cedar Falls and the general public at large, and in conformity will all applicable local, state 

and federal laws. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, the City, 

Owner, Tenant and the Developer (collectively the “Parties”) agree as follows: 

 

1) PRECONDITIONS TO CITY OBLIGATIONS 

All of the City’s obligations hereunder are conditioned upon the following: 

 

(a) Owner acquiring the Real Estate in fee simple, recording title to the Real Estate, and 

providing proof of title to the City on or before February 15, 2019; and 

(b) Tenant acquiring a long-term (25 years) leasehold interest in the Real Estate from Owner 

pursuant to the Lease and providing a copy of a fully executed Memorandum of the 

Lease to the City on or before February 15, 2019; and 

(c) Developer entering into an agreement with Tenant to develop the Real Estate consistent 

with this Agreement and providing proof of such agreement to the City on or before 

February 15, 2019. 

 

The City shall have no obligation to take any action or provide any consideration under this Agreement until 

all of these preconditions are satisfied.  If any of the aforementioned preconditions are not satisfied by 

February 15, 2019, then this Agreement shall automatically terminate without any further action by the City.   

 

2) GENERAL 

The Tenant and Developer intend to build a commercial retail development on the Real Estate, which shall 

initially include a 185,000 square foot Fleet Farm store along with the adjacent 72,000 square foot yard and a 

convenience store with gas station and carwash facilities, along with associated parking, storm water 

management facilities, utilities, access drives, internal drives, sidewalks and landscaping features, hereinafter 

called the “Initial Development”, as illustrated on the site plan approved by the Cedar Falls City Council on 

November 5, 2018, and hereinafter called the “Site Plan”.  Additionally, Owner, Tenant and Developer plan 

to sell, lease or develop additional retail space, currently shown for illustration purposes on the Site Plan as 

“Future Buildings A, B, and C,” and “Future Outlots”. This future development will consist of any 

commercial use permitted in the HWY-1 District, subject to approval of a subdivision plat, site plan review 

and approval by the City prior to development, and compliance with all applicable laws and policies.  

 

By its execution of this Agreement, the City hereby acknowledges and agrees that under the terms of the 

Lease, all development obligations with respect to the Real Estate, including those contained herein, 

shall be the obligation of Tenant, as lessee under the Lease. Further, by Tenant’s execution of this 

Agreement, Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that it assumes and shall be responsible for all 

387



 

3 
 

duties and obligations of VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., as “Owner” under this Agreement (including, 

without limitation, any and all duties and obligations of  Owner with respect to the Developer’s 

Contribution and under the Project Escrow Agreement (defined below)). Notwithstanding the foregoing 

to the contrary, by execution of this Agreement and upon becoming fee simple title holder of the Real 

Estate, VEREIT Real Estate, L.P. hereby agrees to join in and convey the easements and dedications to 

be granted to the City as contemplated in this Agreement.  
 

3)  SITE ACCESS 

In order to satisfy the public need for safe and efficient pedestrian and traffic control and circulation to and 

from the Real Estate, it has been determined that two access points will be granted along W. Ridgeway 

Avenue, as shown on the Site Plan. Although this property has frontage along both Highway 58 and US 

Highway 20, no access will be allowed from those frontages.   

 

4) PHASE I ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS 

The “Phase I Roadway Improvements” shall consist of improvements to the W. Ridgeway Avenue and 

Private Drive/Proposed Site Drive #1 intersection, and the W. Ridgeway Avenue and Nordic Drive Site 

Drive #2 intersection, as further described below. The City agrees to promptly commence, and thereafter, 

construct the Phase I Roadway Improvements in 2019, provided (and promptly upon) all of the following 

preconditions are satisfied: 

(a) the preconditions in Paragraph 1 are satisfied; 

(b) the City has issued a building permit to Tenant or Developer for the construction of the 

Initial Development proposed on the Site Plan;  

(c) the City has completed all legislative processes associated with allocating funds for the 

Phase I Roadway Improvements and Phase I Pedestrian Access; 

(d) the City has completed all legislative processes associated with letting bids for the Phase 

I Roadway Improvements and Phase I Pedestrian Access Improvements;  

(e) Pursuant to Paragraph 7 of this Agreement, the Developer’s Contribution has been 

deposited into the Project Escrow Account, as defined and described in the Project 

Escrow Agreement (defined below); and 

(f) Owner, Tenant, and/or Developer has granted to the City, at no cost to the City, all 

construction and maintenance easements on the Real Estate, as well as dedicated and/or 

deeded to the City, at no cost to the City, all right-of-way on the Real Estate, all as is 

reasonable and necessary to allow for the construction and maintenance of the Phase I 

Roadway Improvements and Phase I Pedestrian Access Improvements. 

 

Precondition (f) noted above does not include the acquisition of right-of-way that may be 

needed on the north side of W. Ridgeway Ave., which shall be obtained by the City at its 

sole cost and expense.  The City shall in good faith, pursue satisfaction of preconditions 

(c) and (d) herein. 

 

If the Phase I Roadway Improvements have not been completed by the time an occupancy permit is 

requested for the first building within the Initial Development on the Real Estate, the City shall work 

cooperatively with the Owner, Tenant and Developer to provide safe and convenient access from W. 

Ridgeway Avenue to the Real Estate while the Phase I Improvements are being completed. Additionally, the 

City shall work cooperatively with the Developer and Tenant to allow construction on the Real Estate and 

fixturing/stocking of the Initial Development to occur during the City’s construction of the Phase I Roadway 

Improvements.  Occupancy permits for business operation of the Initial Development shall not be denied or 

delayed due to the City’s construction of the Phase I Roadway Improvements, provided the “Developer’s 

Contribution” has been deposited into the Project Escrow Account. 

388



 

4 
 

 

The Phase I Roadway Improvements are generally described below and illustrated on the Site Plan. The City 

reserves the right to make adjustments to these listed improvements based on final design specifications so 

long as the scope of work and the access to be provided to the Real Estate remain substantially as outlined 

herein. 

 

 W. Ridgeway Avenue and Private Drive/Proposed Site Drive #1 Intersection: 

o Construct a 2-lane roundabout. Right-of-way on the north side of W. Ridgeway Avenue shall 

be secured by the City of Cedar Falls to facilitate the roundabout design. Any right-of-way 

that is needed on the south side of W. Ridgeway Avenue to facilitate the roundabout design 

shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner, Tenant or Developer at no cost to the City. 

 W. Ridgeway Avenue and Nordic Drive / Development Site Drive #2 Intersection: 

o Upgrade to a full operational and signalized intersection at the intersection of W. Ridgeway 

Avenue and Nordic Drive / Development Site Drive #2. A temporary signal may be installed 

until the Phase II Roadway Improvements are completed.   

 Any right-of-way along the South side of W. Ridgeway Avenue and along the west side of Highway 

58 that is reasonable and necessary to complete the Phase I and Phase II Roadway Improvements 

shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner, Tenant and/or Developer within 30 days of written 

notice from the City, at no cost to the City. 

 Any temporary construction or permanent access and utility easements on the Real Estate that is 

reasonable and necessary for the Phase I Roadway Improvements shall be granted by the Owner, 

Tenant and/or Developer to the City (so long as the same do not encroach into the building pad for 

the convenience store building or gas station canopy or signage location as shown on the approved 

Site Plan). Such easements shall be granted to the City by the Owner, Tenant and/or Developer at no 

cost to the City in a form reasonably acceptable to the City, Owner, Tenant and Developer. 
Acceptance of the form of easements on the part of the Owner, Tenant, and Developer shall not be 

unreasonably withheld.   

 

5) PHASE II ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS 

The “Phase II Roadway Improvements” shall consist of improvements along W. Ridgeway Avenue, from 

Nordic Drive to the Highway 58 intersection. Any improvements within the Highway 58 right-of-way will be 

coordinated with the Iowa Department of Transportation and may require its approval.  It is anticipated that 

the Phase II Roadway Improvements will occur after the Phase I Roadway Improvements are completed, and 

construction is anticipated in 2020 or 2021; however, this is a preliminary date only.  The City’s obligation to 

construct the Phase II Roadway Improvements is conditioned on the satisfaction of all of the following 

preconditions: 

 

(a) the preconditions in Paragraph 1 are satisfied; 

(b) completion of the Initial Development as set forth in the Site Plan and the issuance of a 

certificate of occupancy related thereto; 

(c) the receipt of approval from the Iowa Department of Transportation for the completion of 

the Phase II Roadway Improvements, if necessary;  

(d) the completion of the Phase I Roadway Improvements;  

(e) the City has completed all legislative processes associated with allocating funds for the 

Phase II Roadway Improvements and Phase II Pedestrian Access Improvements; 

(f) the City has completed all legislative processes associated with letting bids for the Phase 

II Roadway Improvements and Phase II Pedestrian Access Improvements;  

389



 

5 
 

(g) Pursuant to Paragraph 7 of this Agreement, the Developer’s Contribution has been 

deposited into the Project Escrow Account, as defined and described in the Project 

Escrow Agreement (defined below); and 

(h) Owner, Tenant, and/or Developer has granted to the City, at no cost to the City, all 

construction and maintenance easements on the Real Estate, as well as dedicated and/or 

deeded to the City, at no cost to the City, all right-of-way on the Real Estate, all as is 

reasonable and necessary to allow for the construction and maintenance of the Phase II 

Roadway Improvements and Phase II Pedestrian Access Improvements. 

 

Precondition (h) noted above does not include acquisition of right-of-way that may be 

needed on the north side of W. Ridgeway Ave. or on the east side of Hwy. 58 which shall 

be obtained by the City at its sole cost and expense.  The City shall in good faith, pursue 

satisfaction of preconditions (e) and (f) above. 

 

The Phase II Roadway Improvements to be completed are generally described below and illustrated on the 

Site Plan. The City reserves the right to make adjustments to these listed improvements based on final design 

specifications; so long as the scope of work and the access to be provided to the Real Estate remain 

substantially as outlined herein. 

 

 Any necessary upgrades to the traffic signals at the intersection of W. Ridgeway Avenue and 

Highway 58. 

 Install dual left turn lanes along eastbound W. Ridgeway Avenue. 

 Install right turn lane along eastbound W. Ridgeway Avenue. 

 Install dual left turn lanes along westbound W. Ridgeway Avenue at Nordic Drive. 

 Install right turn lane along westbound W. Ridgeway Avenue at Nordic Drive. 

 Install any retaining walls necessary along W. Ridgeway Avenue and/or Highway 58 to support the 

roadway improvements and the required public sidewalk. 

 Reconstruct culverts, as necessary.  

 Any additional right-of-way along the south side of W. Ridgeway Avenue or west side of Highway 

58 adjacent to the Real Estate that is reasonable and necessary to facilitate the Phase II Roadway 

Improvements shall be dedicated to the City by the Owner, Tenant and/or Developer within 30 days 

of written notice from the City, at no cost to the City. 

 Construction of the Phase II Roadway Improvements shall be completed by City and/or IDOT at no 

additional cost to Owner, Tenant or Developer, beyond their obligations as set forth in this 

Agreement. 

 Any temporary or permanent easements on the Real Estate that is reasonable and necessary that may 

be needed for the Phase II Roadway Improvements shall be provided to the City by the Owner, 

Tenant and/or Developer at no cost to the City within 30 days of written notice from the City, and 

shall be granted in a form reasonably acceptable to the City, Owner, Tenant and Developer. 

Acceptance of the form of easements on the part of the Owner, Tenant, and Developer shall not be 

unreasonably withheld.  The City, Owner, Tenant, and Developer will work together to minimize 

impacts to the planned improvements on the Real Estate. 

 

6) PEDESTRIAN ACCESS 

Per City site plan requirements, a 5-foot wide public sidewalk shall be installed along W. Ridgeway Avenue 

from the northwest corner of the Real Estate to the corner of Highway 58. Also, crosswalks shall be installed 

across W. Ridgeway Avenue at Site Drive #2 and at Site Drive #1 to connect the public sidewalk to the 

recreational trail along the north side of W. Ridgeway Avenue. The installation of the sidewalk from the 

northwest corner of the property to Nordic Drive, and associated crosswalks (“Phase I Pedestrian Access 

390



 

6 
 

Improvements”), shall be completed by the City in conjunction with the Phase I Roadway Improvements in 

2019, subject to satisfaction of all of the preconditions set forth in Paragraph 4 above. Subject to satisfaction 

of all of the preconditions set forth in Paragraph 5 above, the installation of the sidewalk from Nordic Drive 

to Highway 58 (“Phase II Pedestrian Access Improvements”) shall be completed by the City in conjunction 

with the Phase II Roadway Improvements, notwithstanding the requirement in paragraph 3(d) of the 

Conditional Zoning Agreement that specifies that said sidewalk shall be completed by the Applicant or then-

Tenant prior to issuance of an occupancy permit for the first building constructed on the development site. 

Any right-of-way on the south side of W. Ridgeway Avenue or the west side of Highway 58 that is needed to 

complete the sidewalk with a 10-foot wide parkway buffer between the street and sidewalk shall be dedicated 

to the City by the Owner, Tenant or Developer at no cost to the City.  The Pedestrian Access described in 

this paragraph shall be constructed by the City and paid for using the funds that the Developer pays to the 

City as described in Paragraph 7. The City agrees that the Conditional Zoning Agreement has been fully 

complied with in this respect, and the Owner, Tenant and Developer agree to this procedure, and the parties 

waive any variation between the Conditional Zoning Agreement with respect to construction of the public 

sidewalk.        

 

7) COST OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 

The total cost of constructing the Phase I and Phase II Roadway Improvements and Phase I and Phase II 

Pedestrian Access Improvements (together, hereinafter, “Public Improvements”) is estimated to be 

$4,065,000.00.  The Developer, Owner, or Tenant shall contribute the total sum of $1,708,000.00 (the 

“Developer’s Contribution”) towards the total cost of Public Improvements. Although the actual total 

cost of Public Improvements cannot be ascertained at this time (and may be more than the estimated 

amount or less than the estimated amount), the parties agree that the funds paid by the Developer 

constitute a good faith estimate of the Owner, Developer, and Tenant’s equitable share of the cost of the 

Public Improvements, which are deemed necessary to provide for safe and efficient traffic control and 

circulation as well as pedestrian safety to serve the long term needs caused by the development of the 

Real Estate under HWY-1 Zoning.  The Parties agree that simultaneous to their execution of this 

Agreement, they shall execute the Project Escrow Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Project 

Escrow Agreement”).  Prior to the City Council’s acceptance and approval of the plans for the Phase I 

Roadway Improvements, Owner, Developer, or Tenant shall deposit the Developer’s Contribution in the 

Project Escrow Account as defined and described in the Project Escrow Agreement to be accessed by 

the City to fund the Public Improvements consistent with the terms of the Project Escrow Agreement 

and this Agreement. If payment of the Developer’s Contribution is not made on a timely basis as set 

forth herein, or within any extension of time that the Parties may mutually agree to in writing, then the 

parties agree that the Owner, Tenant, and Developer shall then be in substantial and material breach of 

this Agreement, in which case any and all building permits previously issued for any development on 

the Real Estate may be immediately revoked by the City in its absolute discretion, and no occupancy 

permit shall be granted for any development on the Real Estate, until payment of the Developer’s 

Contribution is made in full.  Also, in such case the Public Improvements may not, in City’s sole 

discretion, be constructed until the Developer’s Contribution is paid into the Project Escrow Account in 

full. The City shall use the Developer’s Contribution as follows: 

 

 The City shall have sole access to Developer’s Contribution immediately upon deposit, and said 

funds shall be used in the City’s absolute discretion at any time, but solely and exclusively for the 

cost of the Public Improvements. 

 Developer’s Contribution shall remain in the Project Escrow Account and available for use by the 

City to fund the Public Improvements, regardless of whether or not initial or future development 

of the Real Estate as described herein, or any other development of the Real Estate, is completed. 

391



 

7 
 

Interest earned on the Developer’s Contribution funds while in the Project Escrow Account shall 

be added to the funds available to the City for construction costs of all Public Improvements.  

 

The payment of Developer’s Contribution required under this Agreement shall not be increased or 

decreased, regardless of the actual total cost of Public Improvements; and such amount shall be the 

complete, final, and only amount Owner, Tenant or Developer, shall pay for completion; design; and 

construction of the Public Improvements.  Any and all remaining cost shall be paid for by the City.  

 

Owner, Tenant, and Developer recognize and agree the Public Improvements shall be owned by the City 

and that Owner, Tenant, and Developer shall not have any special legal entitlements or other rights not 

held by members of the general public with respect to ownership, sufficiency for any particular purpose, 

or use of the Public Improvements.  
 

8)  CONDITIONAL ZONING AGREEMENT 

The Conditional Zoning Agreement recited above provides that the improvements described in this Agreement 

as Public Improvements must be completed prior to the issuance of an occupancy permit for any development 

on the Real Estate.  The parties agree that said Public Improvements may be phased and completed as outlined 

herein notwithstanding the stated timing of the improvements in the Conditional Zoning Agreement.  In 

addition, the Conditional Zoning Agreement provides that the improvements described in this Agreement as 

Public Improvements shall be specified and delineated in a development agreement prior to approval of the first 

site plan for development of the Real Estate.  The parties agree that the first site plan for development of the 

Real Estate could be submitted to the City Council of the City prior to approval of this Agreement, but only if 

approval of the site plan was conditioned upon approval of this Agreement.          

 

9) WETLANDS 

The City agrees to be a joint applicant with the Owner, Tenant or Developer on any wetland permits that may 

need to be obtained as a result of the construction of the Public Improvements. Any mitigation required due 

to impacts to the wetlands shall be completed and paid for by the City using the funds that the Developer 

pays to the City as described in Paragraph 7.  

 

10) COSTS AND EXPENSES OF DEVELOPMENT 

Costs associated with the development of the Real Estate, including, sanitary sewer, city water, electric, gas, 

communication and other utilities connections and services, landscaping, internal sidewalk network, signage, 

storm water management, site development, subdivision, platting and all other development expenses, shall 

be at no cost to the City, except for the Public Improvements described herein. 

 

11) EASEMENTS 

All easements delineated on the approved Site Plan must be legally described and recorded prior to issuance 

of an occupancy permit for the first building constructed on the Real Estate. This may be accomplished 

through a subdivision platting process. 

 

12) COMPLIANCE WITH ORDINANCES AND OTHER LAWS 

In connection with all aspects of the development of the Real Estate, whether specifically described in this 

Agreement, or otherwise, the Owner, Tenant and Developer shall fully comply with all applicable provisions 

and requirements of the Code of Ordinances policies and practices of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and, to 

the extent applicable, with all provisions of local, state and federal laws and regulations. 

 

13)  AMENDMENTS 

This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties hereto. 

392



 

8 
 

 

14) SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

This Agreement is intended to and shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and 

their respective successors and assigns. 

 

15)  NON-WAIVER 

No failure or delay by either party to exercise a right or remedy available hereunder, or otherwise available 

under the law, shall constitute a waiver of such right or remedy, or any other right or remedy, or constitute a 

waiver of any obligation of the other party to perform strictly in accordance with the terms hereof, unless 

such waiver is expressed in writing, signed by the party to be bound. 

 

16)  GOVERNING LAW AND FORUM 

This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa and any 

disputes arising hereunder shall be heard in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County. 

 

17)  NOTICES 

Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and sent by ordinary mail 

or hand delivered to the other party at the respective addresses set forth below: 

 

City:     City of Cedar Falls 

  220 Clay Street 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613                                                                              

 

Developer:    Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC 

         8044 Montgomery Road, STE 370 

        Cincinnati, Ohio 45236     

 

Tenant:            Mills Properties LLC 

  c/o Mills Fleet Farm Group, LLC 

1300 South Lynndale Drive 

Appleton, WI  54914 

Attention: CFO 

 

with copy to:  Mills Properties LLC 

  c/o Mills Fleet Farm Group, LLC 

  1300 South Lynndale Drive 

  Appleton, WI  54914 

  Attention: General Counsel 
 

Owner:  VEREIT Real Estate, L.P. 

  c/o VEREIT, Inc.  

  2325 E. Camelback Road, Suite 1100 

  Phoenix, AZ 85016 

  Attn: Legal Department – Real Estate  

 

 

(Signature pages to follow) 

 

 

393



 

 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

  James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

 

Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC,  

an Ohio limited liability company 

 

By: ________________________________________ Date: ____________ 

 John Silverman, Executive Manager 

 

 

TENANT: 

 
Mills Properties LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

 

By: _________________________________________ Date: _____________ 
 

 

 

 

OWNER: 

 

VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership 

 

By: VEREIT Real Estate GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 

its general partner 

 

By: _________________________________  Date: ___________________ 

Name: Todd J. Weiss 

Title: General Counsel, Real Estate 

 

  

394



 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 
 

PROJECT ESCROW AGREEMENT 
 

 THIS PROJECT ESCROW AGREEMENT (this “Escrow Agreement”) is entered into as of the 

this _______day of _____________________, 20___, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

hereinafter called the “City”, VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, hereinafter 

called “Owner”, Mills Properties LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, hereinafter called 

“Tenant”, and Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company, 

hereinafter called “Developer”. The City, Owner, Tenant, and Developer are sometimes referred to 

herein as a “Party” or collectively as the “Parties.”   

 

 RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties are entering into that certain HWY-1 Highway Commercial 

Zoning District Development Agreement contemporaneous herewith (“Agreement”), which Agreement 

contains defined terms that are indicated by the use of capitalization, which terms are used in this Project 

Escrow Agreement and have the same meaning as in the Agreement; and   

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Owner, Tenant, and Developer have agreed 

to contribute $1,708,000.00 (the “Developer’s Contribution”) towards the total cost of Public 

Improvements to be constructed by the City; and    

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to execute this Escrow Agreement to coordinate the 

payment of the Developer’s Contribution and the City’s use of said funds to complete the construction 

of the Public Improvements. 

 

 

 AGREEMENTS 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants contained 

herein and other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

1. Appointment of Escrow Agent.  The Parties hereby appoint and designate Bankers 

Trust Company of Des Moines, Iowa, as the escrow agent ("Escrow Agent") for the purposes set forth 

herein, and the Escrow Agent hereby accepts such appointment on the terms and conditions set forth 

herein.   

 

2. Receipt of Escrow Deposit.  On or before the date upon which the City Council accepts 

and approves the construction drawings for the Phase I Roadway Improvements, the Owner, Tenant, or 

Developer will deposit $1,708,000.00 with the Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Deposit”).  The entire 

Escrow Deposit and all interest and other earnings thereon shall be deposited into one account (the 

“Project Escrow Account”).  The funds and other property held in the Project Escrow Account shall not 

be subject to a lien or attachment by any creditor of any Party hereto and, except as provided in Section 

5 below, shall not be available to, and shall not be used by, the Escrow Agent to set off any obligations 

of any Party hereto owing to the Escrow Agent in any capacity.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 

395



 

 
 

Project Escrow Account shall be attached, garnished, or levied upon pursuant to judicial process, or the 

delivery of funds held in the Project Escrow Account shall be stayed or enjoined by any court order, or 

any court order shall be made or entered into affecting the Project Escrow Account, or any part thereof, 

the Escrow Agent is hereby expressly authorized to obey and comply with such judicial process or court 

order.  In the event the Escrow Agent obeys or complies with any judicial process or court order, it shall 

not be liable to any firm or corporation by reason of such compliance, notwithstanding the subsequent 

reversal, modification, annulment, or setting aside of such court order. 

 

3. Investment of Escrow Deposit.  The Escrow Deposit shall be invested by the Escrow 

Agent in a money market fund which invests solely in U.S. government obligations and securities and 

repurchase agreements secured thereby, including those maintained by the Escrow Agent or its affiliates.  

All interest and income earned and collected on the Escrow Deposit shall be added to the Escrow 

Deposit and released as set forth in Section 5.  

 

4. Accounting.    Within five (5) Business Days after the end of each calendar quarter, 

Escrow Agent will provide to the Parties an accounting in reasonable detail of the receipts and 

disbursements of the Project Escrow Account. 

 

5. Release of Funds. 

 

(a)  If the City determines in good faith that it is entitled to funding from the Project 

Escrow Account pursuant to the terms of the Agreement (a "Claim"), then the City shall deliver to the 

Escrow Agent and the Developer a written request for the payment of such Claim (a “Payment 

Request”).  A Payment Request shall specify in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances with 

respect to the subject matter of such Payment Request and the amount of the Claim.  Within seven (7) 

calendar days after Developer receives a Payment Request, Developer shall deliver to the Escrow Agent 

and the City a written notice (a “Response Notice”) stating whether Developer objects to the payment of 

all or any portion of the Claim specified in the Payment Request.  If Developer does not deliver a 

Response Notice within 7 days after the receipt of a Payment Request, it will be deemed not to have 

objected to any portion of the amount of the Claim set forth in the Payment Request and the Escrow 

Agent shall pay such amount to the City.  For purposes of determining expiration of the 7-day period 

provided for in the preceding sentence, Escrow Agent shall conclusively presume that any Payment 

Request delivered to it was simultaneously delivered to Developer.  The Escrow Agent must pay any 

Claim even if disputed by Developer unless (i) the City delivers a written notice to the Escrow Agent 

within 7 days stating that City has withdrawn all or any portion of its Claim or (ii) Developer delivers to 

the City and Escrow Agent a copy of an order from a court of competent jurisdiction prohibiting 

payment of all or a portion of such a Claim. 

 

(b) If the Escrow Agent receives a Payment Request and the Request is not withdrawn by the 

City and no court order exists prohibiting payment of the Claim, then the Escrow Agent shall deliver to 

the City the amount (the “Payment Amount”) indicated in such Payment Request within 21 days of 

receiving the Payment Request.  

 

(c) This Escrow Agreement will terminate and any remaining funds in the Project Escrow 

Account will be returned to Developer upon the earlier of: (1) all funds in the Project Escrow Account 

have been released to the City; or (2) the City certifies in writing that the Agreement has been 

terminated or that all costs of the Public Improvements have been paid in full.   

396



 

 
 

 

(d)  Prior to final distribution by Escrow Agent of the remaining funds in the Project Escrow 

Account, Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct from such final distribution any unpaid fees and 

expenses (including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees) payable to Escrow Agent in connection 

with the performance of its duties and the exercise of its rights hereunder. 

 

6. Indemnification of the Escrow Agent.   
 

(a)  From and at all times after the date of this Agreement, each of the Parties shall, 

jointly and severally and to the fullest extent permitted by law, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 

Escrow Agent and each director, officer, employee, attorney, agent and affiliate of the Escrow Agent 

(collectively, the “Escrow Indemnified Parties”) against any and all actions, claims (whether or not 

valid), losses, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, 

without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses) incurred by or asserted against any of 

the Escrow Indemnified Parties from and after the date hereof, whether direct, indirect or consequential, 

as a result of or arising from or in any way relating to any claim, demand, suit, action or proceeding 

(including any inquiry or investigation) by any person, including, without limitation, any of the Parties, 

whether threatened or initiated, asserting a claim for any legal or equitable remedy against any person 

under any statute or regulation, including, without limitation, any federal or state securities laws, or 

under any common law or equitable cause or otherwise, arising from or in connection with the 

negotiation, preparation, execution, performance or failure of performance of this Escrow Agreement or 

any transactions contemplated herein, whether or not any such Escrow Indemnified Party is a party to 

any such action, proceeding, suit or the target of any such inquiry or investigation; provided, however, 

that no Escrow Indemnified Party shall have the right to be indemnified hereunder for any liability 

finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, subject to no further appeal, to have resulted 

primarily from the negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Escrow Indemnified 

Party.  Each Escrow Indemnified Party shall, in its sole discretion, have the right to select and employ 

separate counsel with respect to any action or claim brought or asserted against it, and each Party shall 

pay and equal share of the reasonable fees of such counsel upon request of the Escrow Agent.  The 

obligations of the Parties under this Section 6 shall survive any termination of this Escrow Agreement 

and the resignation or removal of the Escrow Agent. 

 

(b)  The Parties agree that none of the establishment of the Project Escrow Account, 

the making of the Escrow Deposit, the making of disbursements by the Escrow Agent to Developer or 

the City hereunder, the payment by a Party of any claim by the Escrow Agent for indemnification 

hereunder nor the disbursement of any amounts to the Escrow Agent from the Escrow Deposit in respect 

of a claim by the Escrow Agent for indemnification shall impair, limit, modify, or affect, as between the 

Parties, the respective rights and obligations of the Parties under the Escrow Agreement. 

 

7. Resignation of the Escrow Agent.  The Escrow Agent, and any successor Escrow 

Agent, may resign at any time as Escrow Agent hereunder by giving at least fifteen (15) business days’ 

written notice to the parties.  Upon such resignation and the appointment of a successor Escrow Agent, 

the resigning Escrow Agent shall be absolved from any duties as Escrow Agent hereunder.  Upon their 

receipt of notice of resignation from the Escrow Agent, the Parties shall use their reasonable best efforts 

jointly to designate a successor Escrow Agent.  If the Parties do not agree upon a successor Escrow 

Agent within fifteen (15) business days after the receipt by the parties of the Escrow Agent’s resignation 

notice, the Escrow Agent may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a 

397



 

 
 

successor Escrow Agent or other appropriate relief (including, without limitation, an interpleader action) 

and any such resulting appointment shall be binding upon all parties hereto.  By mutual agreement, the 

Parties shall have the right at any time upon not less than seven (7) days’ written notice to terminate 

their appointment of the Escrow Agent, or any successor Escrow Agent, as Escrow Agent hereunder.  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the Escrow Agent or any successor Escrow 

Agent shall continue to act as the Escrow Agent until a successor is appointed and qualified to act as the 

Escrow Agent.  The terminated or resigning Escrow Agent shall transmit all records pertaining to the 

Escrow Deposit and shall pay the Escrow Deposit to the successor Escrow Agent, after making copies of 

such records as the terminated or resigning Escrow Agent deems advisable and after deduction and 

payment to the terminated or resigning Escrow Agent of all fees and expenses (including court costs and 

reasonable attorneys' fees) payable to, actually incurred by, or reasonably expected to be incurred by the 

terminated or resigning Escrow Agent in connection with the performance of its duties and the exercise 

of its rights hereunder.  After any terminated or resigning Escrow Agent's resignation or removal, the 

provisions of this Escrow Agreement shall inure to its benefit and survive with respect to any actions 

taken or omitted to be taken by such terminated or resigning Escrow Agent while it was the Escrow 

Agent under this Agreement.  Any corporation or association into which the Escrow Agent may be 

merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or association to which all 

or substantially all of the escrow business of the Escrow Agent’s corporate trust line of business may be 

transferred, shall be the Escrow Agent under this Escrow Agreement without further act. 

 

8. Taxes.  The Escrow Agent does not have any interest in the Escrow Deposit but is 

serving as escrow holder only and only has possession thereof.  For U.S. federal and applicable state 

income tax purposes, Developer , Owner, Tenant, whichever entity makes the Escrow Deposit, shall be 

treated as owning the Project Escrow Account and shall include any and all interest earned on the 

Escrow Deposit in its gross income for all U.S. federal and applicable state income tax purposes.  The 

Escrow Agent shall file IRS Forms 1099 INT consistent with such treatment.  The Parties hereto 

acknowledge that any payments of any amounts from the Project Escrow Account pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be subject to withholding tax regulations then in force with respect to U.S. federal 

income taxes.   

 

9. Notices.  
 

(a)  All notices and other communications required or permitted pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be in writing and be deemed to have been duly given when delivered personally (which 

shall include delivery by Federal Express or other nationally recognized, reputable overnight courier 

service that issues a receipt or other confirmation of delivery) to the party for whom such 

communication is intended, or five (5) Business Days after the date mailed by certified mail, return 

receipt requested, postage prepaid.  

 

(b)  A notice must be addressed to a Party at the Party's last known address set forth 

below.  Any Party may designate, by notice to all of the others, substitute addresses or addressees for 

notices; and, thereafter, notices are to be directed to those substitute addresses or addressees.  

 
City:     City of Cedar Falls 

  220 Clay Street 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613                                                                              

 

 

398



 

 
 

Developer:    Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC 

         8044 Montgomery Road, STE 370 

        Cincinnati, Ohio 45236     

 

Tenant:            Mills Properties LLC 

  c/o Mills Fleet Farm Group, LLC 

1300 South Lynndale Drive 

Appleton, WI  54914 

Attention: CFO 

 

with copy to:  Mills Properties LLC 

  c/o Mills Fleet Farm Group, LLC 

  1300 South Lynndale Drive 

  Appleton, WI  54914 

  Attention: General Counsel 
 

Owner:  VEREIT Real Estate, L.P. 

  c/o VEREIT, Inc.  

  2325 E. Camelback Road, Suite 1100 

  Phoenix, AZ 85016 

  Attn: Legal Department – Real Estate  

    

 

Escrow Agent: Diana Van Vleet, CCTS 

Vice President & Corporate Trust Officer 

Bankers Trust 

453 7th Street 

Des Moines, IA 50309 

dvanvleet@bankerstrust.com 

515-245-2951  

    

10. Successors and Assigns; Assignment.  This Escrow Agreement shall be binding on and 

inure to the benefit of each Party hereto and its respective successors and assigns.  The Parties may 

assign rights under this Escrow Agreement only to the same extent they are permitted to assign their 

rights and obligations under the Agreement.   

 

11. Miscellaneous.  This Escrow Agreement, together with the schedules and annexes 

attached hereto and, with respect to the Parties, the Agreement, embody the entire agreement and 

understanding of the parties concerning the Escrow Deposit.  As between the Parties hereto, other than 

Escrow Agent, in the event of any conflict of the terms of this Escrow Agreement with the terms of the 

Agreement, the terms of the Agreement shall control and prevail.  This Escrow Agreement may be 

amended only by a writing signed by each Party hereto.  The headings in this Escrow Agreement are 

intended solely for convenience or reference and shall be given no effect in the construction or 

interpretation of this Escrow Agreement.  This Escrow Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa, without regard to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.  

This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective, 

heirs, personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.  Capitalized terms used herein but not 

otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Agreement. 

399



 

 
 

 

12. Escrow Agent’s Fees.  Reasonable fees and expenses for the services the Escrow Agent 

renders pursuant to this Escrow Agreement (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its counsel 

incurred in connection with its performance of such services) will be paid to the Escrow Agent.  

Developer will pay all such fees and expenses of the Escrow Agent, as set forth on Exhibit “1”.     

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of 

the date first above written. 

 

 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

  James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

 

Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC,  

an Ohio limited liability company 

 

By: ________________________________________ Date: ____________ 

 John Silverman, Executive Manager 

 

 

TENANT: 

 
Mills Properties LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

 

By: _________________________________________ Date: _____________ 
 

 

OWNER: 

 

VEREIT Real Estate, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership 

 

By: VEREIT Real Estate GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 

its general partner 

 

By: _________________________________  Date: ___________________ 

Name: Todd J. Weiss 

Title: General Counsel, Real Estate 

 

 

400



 

 
 

EXHIBIT 1 TO ESCROW AGREEMENT – FEE SCHEDULE 

 

 

To be provided. 

 

 

 

 

 
01540350-1\10283-002 

401



27

58

49.5194 ACRES

N
O

R
D

IC
D

R
IV

E

WEST RIDGEWAY AVENUE
(Concrete Paving)

11

91614

9

9

16

16

14

14

1919

20

20

6 14

20

20

20

20

20

20

10

16

11COMPACT COMPACT

COMPACT

841 SPACES PROVIDED

15

15

FUTURE
BUILDING C
25,000 SF
FF=948.60

FUTURE
BUILDING B
20,000 SF
FF=947.27

FUTURE
BUILDING A
10,000 SF
FF=947.27

FUTURE OUTLOT
1.54 AC±

FUTURE OUTLOT
1.51 AC±

FUEL
CENTER

FF=931.56

OPEN
SPACE

OPEN
SPACE

10'

R
20R

3

R1
0

R20

R284

R35

R20

R1
5

R20
R20

R21.5

R
235

R
265

28.5'19'

28.5'

28
.5

'

30'

28
.5

'

22.5'

21'

21
'

21
'

22
.5

'

22
.5

'
20

'

37.5'20'

19'
15'

15'

28.5'

28.5'

28.5'

24
'

19
'

19
'

19'
15'

10'

9'

9'

9'

9'

9'

9'

9' 8'

9'

9'

9'

9' 8'

24
'

20
'

24
'

20
'

24
'

24
'

24
'

24
'

19
'

28.5'

10' 10'

10'10'10'

10' 10' 10'
9'

9'9'

9' 9'

9'

8'

9'

10' 10'

10'

10'

13'

10
'

24
'

24
'

24
'

24
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
.0

0'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
.0

0'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
.0

0'

32.5'

27
'

40
.4

7'

37' 20'

10
'

13'

12
'

10
.5

'27
'

24
'

20
'

20
'

10'

10'

R15

END R-WALL
ELEV=910.5

BEGIN R-WALL
ELEV=920.8

TOP=927.0
BOTTOM=921.8

TOP=927.0
BOTTOM=921.5

TOP=926.0
BOTTOM=915.0

MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

MODIFIED
 CURB & GUTTER

MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

5'

9

5

10

20
' P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 S
ET

BA
C

K

20
' P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 S
ET

BA
CK

MODIFIED 2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

20
' P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 S
ET

BA
C

K

E/P NO CURB

DETENTION AND
WATER QUALITY

BASIN #1
100 YR ELEV=931.27
TOP OF DIKE=932.30

DETENTION AND
WATER QUALITY

BASIN #2
100 YR ELEV=926.17
TOP OF DIKE=927.20

CURB
RAMP

CURB RAMPS

CURB & WALK
FLUSH WITH PAVEMENT

CURB & WALK
FLUSH WITH PAVEMENT

DRIVE #3

DRIVE #1

D
R

IV
E 

#2

DRIVE #4

D
R

IV
E 

#1
DRIVE #3

D
R

IV
E 

#3

CURB
RAMP

TRANSITION
CURB

CURB RAMP

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

R7R7

R7

R7

R7

R7

R7
R7

R7

R7

R
6R7

R11.5

R7

R7

R7 R7
R7

.2
6

R
8.

81

R9
.5

R6.5

R478.5

R6
.5

R9.5

R21.5

R21
.5

R21.5

R21
.5

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

R113.5

R
6

R6

R6.5

R16.5

R16.5

R8.5

R
8.5

R11.5R
8.

44

R6
.5

R21.5

R21.5

R16.5

R20.5

R
21.5

R21.5

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

5'

CURB RAMP

MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

R1
1.

5

2' CURB
& GUTTER

CURB RAMP

CURB
RAMP

CURB RAMP

CURB RAMPS

CURB RAMP

CURB RAMP
CURB
RAMP

R28
.5

R61.5

R4.5

R61.5

R4.5

R21.5
R10.25

30' CROSS-ACCESS
EASEMENT

TRANSPORMER PAD PER
DETAIL 16.705-2
ON SHEET C6.2
BY SITE CONTRACTOR

FREESTANDING
SIGN

FREESTANDING
SIGN

6'

GENERATOR

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

 C
C

 C
C

 C
C

 C
C

 C
C

TRANSITION CURB AT
CATCH BASIN

2' CURB
& GUTTER

TRANSITION CURB AT
CATCH BASIN

MODIFIED 2' CURB
& GUTTER

TRANSITION CURB AT
CATCH BASIN

MODIFIED 2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

2' CURB
& GUTTER

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

2' CURB & GUTTER

 MODIFIED
CURB & GUTTER

TRANSITION CURB AT
CATCH BASIN

TRANSITION CURB IN 5 FEET

2' CURB & GUTTER

END PHASE 1 CURB

FUTURE
2' CURB & GUTTER

END PHASE 1 CURB

MODIFIED 2' CURB
& GUTTER

MODIFIED 2' CURB
& GUTTER

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

5'

2' CURB
& GUTTER

CURB RAMP CURB RAMP

DEPRESS CURB FOR
FUTURE CURB RAMP

(2)-4" WHITE CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

(2)-4" WHITE
CROSSWALK LINES

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

CURB RAMP

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

KEROSENE PUMP

VACUMM

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
FOR CONCRETE HEATING
SYSTEM

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
FOR CONCRETE HEATING
SYSTEM

R21
.5

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

INTEGRAL CURB
& WALK

CURB & WALK
FLUSH WITH PAVEMENT STOP SIGN & POST

12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

DIRECTIONAL
SIGN & POST

DIRECTIONAL
SIGN & POST

RETAINING WALL
FENCE SEE LOWER
LEFT FOR NOTES

DELIVERIES

DE
LIV

ER
IE

S

DIRECTIONAL
SIGN & POST

DELIVERIES

E/P NO CURB

D
R

IV
E 

#2

D
R

IV
E 

#1

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

STOP SIGN & POST
12" STOP BAR

10
'

5'

DETENTION
EASEMENT

DETENTION
EASEMENT

DETENTION
EASEMENT

DETENTION
EASEMENT

12
'

TRASH ENCLOSURE
ARCHITECTURAL PLANS

60.50' B/C

6'

PROPOSED R/W
1'-0" OFF OF WALK

PROPOSED R/W
1'-0" OFF OF WALK

PROPOSED R/W
1'-0" OFF OF WALK

BEGIN 2' CURB
& GUTTERBEGIN 2' CURB

& GUTTER

30' SETBACK
30' SETBACK

30' SETBACK

SU
PE

R
 U

N
LE

AD
ED

 8
7

20
,0

00
 G

AL
.

SU
PE

R
 U

N
LE

AD
ED

 8
7

20
,0

00
 G

AL
.

KE
R

O
SE

N
E

10
,0

00
 G

AL
.

N
O

N
-O

XY
 8

7
10

,0
00

 G
AL

.

N
O

N
-O

XY
 9

1
10

,0
00

 G
AL

.

D
IE

SE
L 

FU
EL

10
,0

00
 G

AL
.

SU
PE

R
 U

N
LE

AD
ED

 8
7

20
,0

00
 G

AL
.

FUTURE CONCRETE WALK
TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY
OUTLOT DEVELOPMENT

FUTURE CONCRETE WALK
TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY
OUTLOT DEVELOPMENT

5'

15'

6'

5'
6'

6'

12' 12'

12'

12' 12'

PROPOSED R/W

PROPOSED R/W
6'-0" OFF OF WALK

10
'

5'

R152

R98

R102

w
w

w
.b

ay
er

be
ck

er
.c

om

M
as

on
, O

H
 4

50
40

 - 
51

3.
33

6.
66

00
69

00
 T

yl
er

sv
ille

 R
oa

d,
 S

ui
te

 A

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

SCALE: 1" =

0

Basis of Bearing:

40 60

40'

NAD 1983 (2011) iaRCS zone 5

H
E

N
R

Y
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
B

L
A

C
K

 H
A

W
K

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

L
L

S
C

E
D

A
R

 F
A

L
L

S
, I

O
W

A

D
IM

E
N

S
IO

N
 S

IT
E

 &
 P

A
V

E
M

E
N

T
 P

L
A

N

07-06-18

C3.0

GJK

Ite
m

R
ev

is
io

n 
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n
D

at
e

D
rw

n:
C

hk
:

Pl
ot

 ti
m

e:
  N

ov
 0

1,
 2

01
8 

- 1
:4

7p
m

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 J
:\2

01
7\

17
-0

33
5\

C
V\

D
W

G
\1

7-
03

35
 C

D
.d

w
g 

- L
ay

ou
t T

ab
: P

la
n 

Sh
ee

ts

T
H

IS
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
 A

N
D

 A
L

L
 R

E
L

A
T

E
D

 D
E

T
A

IL
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

, 
S

P
E

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

, 
A

N
D

 E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
 M

E
D

IA
 P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
 O

R
 F

U
R

N
IS

H
E

D
 B

Y
 B

A
Y

E
R

 B
E

C
K

E
R

 (
B

B
),

 A
R

E
 I

N
S

T
R

U
M

E
N

T
S

 O
F

 B
B

'S
 P

R
O

F
E

S
S

IO
N

A
L

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

, 
A

N
D

 I
S

 T
H

E
 E

X
C

L
U

S
IV

E
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 O

F
 B

B
. 

N
O

 D
IS

C
L

O
S

U
R

E
, 

U
S

E
, 

R
E

P
R

O
D

U
C

T
IO

N
, 

O
R

 D
U

P
L

IC
A

T
IO

N
 I

N
 W

H
O

L
E

, 
O

R
 I

N
 P

A
R

T
, 

M
A

Y
 B

E
 M

A
D

E
 W

IT
H

O
U

T
 W

R
IT

T
E

N
 P

E
R

M
IS

S
IO

N
 O

F
 B

B
, 

A
N

D
 I

S
 D

O
N

E
 S

O
 A

T
 U

S
E

R
'S

 S
O

L
E

 R
IS

K
. 

C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T

 -
 A

L
L

 R
IG

H
T

S
 R

E
S

E
R

V
E

D
.

17-0335 CD

Issue Date:

Checked By:

Drawn by:

Drawing:

Sheet:

LIGHT DUTY
ASPHALT PAVEMENT

HEAVY DUTY
ASPHALT PAVEMENT CONCRETE WALK

CONCRETE PAVEMENT

LEGEND
1. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE EDGE OF PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
2. ALL RADII ARE TO THE FACE OF CURB AND ARE 6.5' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.
3. SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR BUILDING FOUNDATION DIMENSIONS.
4. ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES SHALL HAVE STRIPING AND SIGNAGE MEETING ADAAG AND LOCAL

REQUIREMENTS.
5. ALL SIGNS SHOWN ON THE PLAN IS APPROXIMATE. ALL SINGS SHALL BE KEPT OUT OF THE RIGHT OF WAY.

BUILDING A  10,000 SF
BUILDING B                                          20,000SF
BUILDING C                                          25,000 SF
BUILDING D 185,000 SF
TOTAL 240,000 SF

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT TO BE REVIEWED
AS PART OF A FUTURE SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
SEE FUEL CENTER PLAN

1
R

EV
IS

IO
N

S 
PE

R
 C

IT
Y 

C
O

M
M

EN
TS

7-
26

-1
8

G
JK

WETLAND

ZONING: HWY-1 WITH HWY-20 OVERLAY
HWY-1 WITH HCG OVERLAY (OUTLOT 1)

LOT ACREAGE:
DEVELOPMENT 36.563 ACRES
FUTURE OUTLOTS   3.051 ACRES
FUTURE R/W   9.905 ACRES
TOTAL 49.519 ACRES

OPEN SPACE ACREAGE: 12.107 ACRES
33.1% (DEVELOPMENT AREA)
24.4% (TOTAL AREA)

GROSS LEASABLE AREA: 240,000 S.F.
RETAIL GROSS LEASABLE AREA (GLA): 185,000 S.F.
FUTURE JUNIOR ANCHORS (JA) - BUILDINGS A,B,C - GLA: 55,000 S.F.

REQUIRED PARKING SPACES:
RETAIL PARKING: 832.5 (4.5 SPACES/1000 S.F. GLA)
TYPICAL PARKING DIMENSIONS - RETAIL: 10' X 20'

JA PARKING: 247.5 SPACES (4.5 SPACES/ 1000 S.F. GLA)
TYPICAL PARKING DIMENSIONS - JA: 9' X 19' (COMPACT 8' X 19')

PROVIDED PARKING SPACES: 
RETAIL
STANDARD 831 SPACES
ACCESSIBLE   16 SPACES

          TOTAL 847 SPACES

OUTLOT 1 (FUEL CENTER)
STANDARD            22 SPACES
ACCESSIBLE    2 SPACES
TOTAL            24 SPACES

JA (FUTURE DEVELOPMENT)
STANDARD 199 SPACES
COMPACT   41 SPACES (16.6%)
ACCESSIBLE     7 SPACES
TOTAL 247 SPACES

OVERALL SITE (RETAIL + JA)
TOTAL PARKING 1,096 SPACES
RATIO 4.5 SPACES / 1000 S.F.

EMPLOYEES:           APPROXIMATE 150 TO 200 EMPLOYEES

SITE SUMMARY

FUTURE SIDEWALK BY OTHERS

2
R

EV
IS

ED
 P

ER
 S

TA
FF

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

AT
C

8-
10

-1
8

 CC  CC CART CORRAL

NOTES

BULDING S.F.

1. CONSTRUCTION DRIVES MAY NEED TO BE ONE OF THE FOLLOWING:
1.1. 12 INCHES OF CRUSHED STONE WITH GEOGRID.
1.2. 24 INCHES OF CRUSHED STONE WITHOUT GEOGRID.

CONSTRUCTION DRIVE NOTE

3
R

EV
IS

ED
 P

ER
 C

IT
Y,

 D
EV

EL
O

PE
R

 A
N

D
 IN

TE
R

N
AL

 R
EV

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

G
JK

9-
28

-1
8

HEAVY DUTY
ASPHALT PAVEMENT (30 YEAR)

4
R

EV
IS

ED
 P

ER
 C

IT
Y 

EN
G

IN
EE

R
'S

 O
FF

IC
E 

R
EV

IE
W

 C
O

M
M

EN
TS

G
JK

10
-1

7-
18

FUTURE CONCRETE WALK
TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY
OUTLOT DEVELOPMENT

5
C

IT
Y 

EN
G

IN
EE

R
 C

O
M

M
EN

TS
 &

 U
PD

AT
E 

R
ID

G
EW

AY
 IM

PR
O

VE
M

EN
TS

G
JK

10
-2

6-
18

402



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Stephanie Sheets, Director of Community Development 
Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 

   
 FROM: Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 

 DATE: October 18, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Henry Farm Development Traffic Impact Study 

 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the Henry Farm Development Traffic Impact 
Study and the review of the study performed by Foth Infrastructure and Environment. 
The challenge at this location is the proximity of Nordic Drive to Highway 58. The 
centerline distance between the two roads along Ridgeway Avenue is about 540’. 
Access management standards recommend this distance be at least doubled. More 
distance allows for adequate vehicle storage, weaving maneuvers, and additional time 
for driver reactions. Unfortunately, Nordic Drive is in place and has been for a long time. 
Moving the roadway is not currently an option. There are other options that will work 
today and into the future. How long into the future is dependent on the rate of 
development along the corridor and corresponding traffic growth. 
 
The Bayer Becker Traffic Impact Study recommended a roundabout at their main 
entrance (Drive #1) and right-in/right-out access at their secondary entrance (Drive #2), 
which would be directly south of Nordic Drive. They also recommended that Nordic 
Drive be a right-in/right-out and a median be installed through the intersection on 
Ridgeway Avenue. Foth’s review showed that this scenario works with the proposed 
development but at some point in the future, approaching 2040 if the traffic growth 
assumptions are correct, the heavy U-turn movement at the Drive #1 roundabout 
resulting from the right-in/right-out at Nordic Drive causes the operation of the 
roundabout to break down. 
 
Bayer Becker’s report also indicated two additional scenarios work for the corridor. One 
scenario is a traffic signal at Drive #1 and a traffic signal at Drive #2/Nordic Drive. The 
other is a roundabout at Drive #1 and a traffic signal at Drive #2/Nordic Drive. Both the 
Foth review and the Engineering Division review show that either scenario will work with 
the proposed development but also experience problems in the future as the corridor 
develops and traffic continues to grow. 

403



All three scenarios show problems dealing with future traffic growth. The scenario that 
would have the most impact on reducing future traffic problems is relocating Nordic 
Drive an additional 500’ to 750’ to the west of Highway 58. That is currently not a 
realistic option because the immediate roadway network can function adequately with 
the proposed development traffic added to the existing traffic. Having reviewed the 
Bayer Becker and Foth analyses, Engineering recommends a roundabout at Drive #1 
and a traffic signal at Drive #2/Nordic Drive with some additional lanes also 
recommended by the Foth review. These additions to the Bayer Becker study include: 
 

 Dual eastbound left turn lanes at Highway 58 

 An eastbound right turn lane at Highway 58 

 Dual westbound left turn lanes at Drive #2/Nordic Drive 

 A westbound right turn lane at Drive #2/Nordic Drive 
 
Engineering also asked Bayer Becker to verify a single southbound and northbound 
lane in the roundabout at Drive #1 was adequate for the future westbound left turn 
volume which they did verify. 
 
This recommendation recognizes that future traffic growth beyond the proposed 
development will cause traffic problems. Modeling shows the entire section of roadway 
between Nordic Drive and Highway 58 full of cars in the eastbound direction in 2040 
with the predicted traffic growth rate. When this happens and Drive #2/Nordic Drive 
traffic is allowed to proceed, there is nowhere for the traffic to go until eastbound traffic 
at Highway 58 releases. Longer backups are also seen on Nordic Drive that will block 
the southernmost access to Kwik Star. When this congestion occurs, additional 
alternatives need to be considered. The alternatives could be adaptive signal control, a 
roundabout at Drive #2/Nordic Drive, limited access at Drive #2/Nordic Drive, or no 
access at Drive #2/Nordic Drive. Additionally, the Iowa DOT has a concept for a new 
interchange at Highway 20 and 58. However, it is just a concept and currently unfunded. 
This concept shows a grade separated interchange at Highway 58 and Ridgeway 
Avenue as well. A grade separated interchange would have a significant impact on 
traffic patterns on Ridgeway Avenue. The interchange would influence traffic pressure 
on Ridgeway Avenue. It seems likely that it would reduce pressure. Reducing pressure 
on Ridgeway would impact the traffic predictions of the Bayer Becker study. 
 
 
 
 

404



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: November 27, 2018  

 SUBJECT: Engineering Services Contract 

 

City staff solicited Requests for Qualifications (RFQ) in early October for general 
engineering services support.  The request was prompted by the engineering division 
staffing challenges we have been experiencing the past year and a half and that we 
anticipate continuing.  In 2017 and 2018, the City had several large projects under 
construction (Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer, University Avenue, Levee).  Due to 
staffing, adjustments in CIP projects were made over these years, either delaying or 
scaling back some projects.  The City also contracted subdivision inspection to a 
consultant.  However, it has remained difficult to prepare for 2019 or 2020 projects as 
well as continue providing customer service on various issues presented to us. 
 
In order to address the City’s needs, consultant services are sought.  We received three 
proposals.  After reviewing the qualifications, staff’s experience with the firm, and the 
primary team that would be available to us, staff recommends a contract with Snyder & 
Associations (with Foth as a subconsultant) for general engineering services.  Initially 
staff anticipates assigning several CIP projects such as area drainage studies, Clay 
Street Park project design, Union Road Trail Phase II, Lake Street Trail, Big Woods 
Road Ditch Improvements, Greenhill Cemetery Slope Repair Project, as well as bridge 
repair plans.  General support identified in the RFQ included areas such as reviewing 
subdivision/site plan drainage and construction plans; bridge, culvert and other projects 
for public bid letting; help with general citizen concerns; or other needs of the City.  A 
six-month, hourly services contract is proposed.  A Snyder employee will be housed at 
City Hall for staff’s convenience, direction and oversight.  The contract would not 
exceed $300,000.  Projects and work would be directed by Chase Schrage or 
Stephanie Sheetz, based on staffing and project needs. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
Attachment: Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
 
 CC: Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 
 Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor 

405



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
www.cedarfalls.com

Administration Division Planning & Community Services Division
Phone: 319-273-8600 Fax: 319-273-8610

Engineering Division Inspection Services Division
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197

Water Reclamation Division
Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT

2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project Number EN-000-3174

This Agreement is made and entered by and between Snyder & Associates, Inc., 5005 Bowling Street SW 
Suite A Cedar Rapids, IA 52404, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay 
Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.”

IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows:

I. SCOPE OF SERVICES

CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 
facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.

II. CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES

CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement:

(a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 
and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder.

(b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 
upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A.

(c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 
standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein.

406



(d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 
from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same.

(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 
period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance. 

III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES

CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 
Services:

(a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 
approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services.

(b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 
the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder.

IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 12 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein.

CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control.

CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B.

407



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 
Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C.

VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 
other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed an estimated fee of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000.00).

CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect.

VII. TERMINATION

CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 
written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI.

VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Any other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk without liability 
or legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend and hold 
CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against 
CONSULTANT in the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally 
prepared even though such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by 
CONSULTANT. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or 
depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry 
out other projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are 
similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.

(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 
those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern.

408



IX. MEANS AND METHODS

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT.

X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 
hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT.

XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 
liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct.

CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 
treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination. 

For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 
approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 
settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 

409



be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 
CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices.

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 
judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District Court, 
Waterloo, Iowa.

XIII. MISCELLANEOUS

(a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 
any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between 
this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C
shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control.

(b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa.

(c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 
CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement. 

(d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 
such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void.

(e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT 
and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement.

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits 
limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are 
available to either party under the law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below.

APPROVED FOR CLIENT APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT

By: By:

Printed Name: Printed Name: Lindsay Beaman            

Title: Title:        Business Unit Leader         

Date: Date:       November 28, 2018

410



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

Exhibit A

Scope of Services
2019 Engineering Services

Cedar Falls, Iowa
CITY Project Number EN-000-3174

This document outlines the scope of services specific to 2019 Engineering 
Services as requested by the CITY of Cedar Falls. The term “CONSULTANT” as 
used in this document shall be defined as the general engineering services 
professional (Snyder & Associates, Inc.) that will be performing work for the CITY
of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter, the “CITY”, under contract. 

The scope of services to be performed by the CONSULTANT shall be completed 
in accordance with generally accepted standards of practice and shall include the 
services and supplies to complete the following: 

I. GENERAL

The services generally include municipal engineering support and may include 
any of the following: drainage studies; construction design of roadway, bridge, 
culvert and other projects for public bid letting (including preliminary and final 
design with specifications and any other items needed to bid the project); 
drainage and subsurface analysis and design; utility coordination; cost 
estimating; traffic modeling and reviews; construction administration; contract 
administration to generally include shop drawing reviews, field review and 
question support; design interpretation; conducting project progress meetings; 
coordinating with the CITY and other agencies that may be involved in a CITY
project; reviewing and recommending appropriateness of change orders; 
preparing pay estimates; development reviews (subdivision plats, designs, 
covenants, site plans, drainage, traffic, environmental, etc.); and professional 
services as needed for other projects or complex issues where CITY staff
needs assistance to serve its citizens.

II. SCOPE OF WORK

A. GENERAL ENGINEERING SERVICES

1. General Engineering Services will be provided on an “as requested” 
basis and billed accordingly.  

411



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

a. The general engineering services include, but shall not 
necessarily be limited to, providing municipal engineering 
support as summarized in Section I above.

b. General engineering services shall be conducted at the request 
of the CITY Engineering Services department, and the 
CONSULTANT shall assign a Resident Engineer to serve as the 
point of contact between the CITY and the CONSULTANT.

2. A Resident Engineer will be assigned by the CONSULTANT to be 
located in the offices of the CITY on a part time basis.

a. Resident Engineer shall provide municipal engineering support
as summarized in Section I above, at the direction of the CITY 
Engineering Services department.

b. The Resident Engineer shall be responsible for engaging the 
appropriate individuals on the CONSULTANT’s team(s) for 
completing and delivering upon the engineering requests of the 
CITY.

c. The Resident Engineer is anticipated to work during the CITY’s
scheduled hours of 7:30 AM to 4:30 PM, Monday thru Friday.

d. The CONSULTANT shall provide the resident engineer with a 
vehicle, as necessary for the resident engineer to perform the
general engineering services. Direct mileage for resident 
engineer’s daily commute and services performed at the request 
of the CITY shall be tracked and reported for regular invoicing.

e. The CONSULTANT shall provide the resident engineer with a 
computer for the purposes of performing general engineering 
services. It is anticipated that the resident engineer may be 
asked to work from CITY computing devices for the purposes of 
accessing particular programs or files.

3. The CONSULTANT shall report weekly progress on general 
engineering work assignments, as well as current proposed and billed 
hours.

4. For specific projects, a contract may be executed for the terms needed 
to complete the project.  

412



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

5. The CONSULTANT shall provide General Engineering Services for a 
period of up to six months. In the event that the CITY requests 
additional time be added to this agreement, the CONSULTANT shall 
prepare a revised scope of services for the CITY’s review and approval.

6. Projects started with CONSULTANT that may extend longer will be 
evaluated for continuation by supplemental agreement.  

III. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

A. ENGINEERING SERVICES

1. Compensation for the General Engineering Services by the 
CONSULTANT shall be based on the then current hourly rates and 
fixed expenses, and the CITY will be billed for direct hours spent. As 
noted in Section II.A. above, the resident engineer services are based 
on an estimated eight hours onsite per day, five days per week, for a 
six-month time period, plus mileage and commute time.

IV. ASSIGNABILITY

A. The CONSULTANT shall not assign any interest in this AGREEMENT and 
shall not transfer any interest in the same without the prior written consent 
of the CITY.  Subconsultants designated as part of this AGREEMENT shall 
be deemed to be approved when this AGREEMENT is executed.  

B. Subconsultants are proposed as follows:

Foth

END

413



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

Exhibit B

2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project Number EN-000-3174

Original12/13/11
Revision 01/31/2017

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR
CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.  

2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1.

3. Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements:

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1

Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.   

Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract.

4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls.

414



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.  

6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense.

7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1:

This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City. 

Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 
following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.   

Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 
attached.

Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1.
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors.

Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04**

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization”

** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Completed Operations” 

415



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
8. Errors & Omissions: If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000.

9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage.

10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price.

11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision: To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls,
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 
Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

416



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts.

The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules.

12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder.

Completion Checklist

Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages)
Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04
Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04
Governmental Immunities Endorsement

417



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE

General Liability (Occurrence Form Only):
Commercial General Liability

General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000
Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000
Each Occurrence Limit $1,000,000
Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000
Medical Payments $       5,000

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)
$1,000,000

             

If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles.

Standard Workers Compensation
Statutory for Coverage A
Employers Liability:

Each Accident $  500,000
Each Employee – Disease $  500,000
Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000

Umbrella: $3,000,000
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies).

Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000

418



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens.

This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured)

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time.

2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa.

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy.

419



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT

Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium.

420



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

421



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

422



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

423



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on

this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

37885

09/24/18DPR9932456

201 First Street SE, Suite 700

Paula Dixon

USA

A waiver of subrogation applies on the professional liability policy in favor of the City of Cedar Falls, IA.

800-527-9049

09/24/19

220 Clay Street

Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

1-800-300-0325

Ankeny, IA 50023
P.O. Box 1159
2727 Southwest Snyder Blvd

Snyder & Associates, Inc.

Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Claims Made

Professional Liability

Aggregate

Per Claim

Holmes Murphy & Assoc - CR

XL SPECIALTY INS CO

mfarrellcr

4,000,000

2,000,000

54592712

54592712

11/19/2018

City of Cedar Falls

A

443



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174

Exhibit C

2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project Number EN-000-3174

2/9/12

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS

This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors).

1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor.

2. Time is of the essence of this Contract.

3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City.

4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations.

5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity.

6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein.

7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City.

8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract.

444



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 

construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties.

10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Exhibit B, shall constitute a default 
under this Contract.

11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation.

12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly.

13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records.

14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages.

15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Exhibit B.

16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, Exhibit 
B.

17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract.

18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City.

445



2019 Engineering Services
Cedar Falls, Iowa

City Project No. EN-000-3174
19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 

furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law.

20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure.

446



Principal II $202.00 /hour
Principal I $191.00 /hour
Senior $171.00 /hour
VIII $158.00 /hour
VII $150.00 /hour
VI $144.00 /hour
V $134.00 /hour
IV $124.00 /hour
III $113.00 /hour
II $103.00 /hour
I $90.00 /hour

Lead $121.00 /hour
Senior $116.00 /hour
VIII $108.00 /hour
VII $100.00 /hour
VI $89.00 /hour
V $80.00 /hour
IV $74.00 /hour
III $62.00 /hour
II $54.00 /hour
I $47.00 /hour

II $62.00 /hour
I $50.00 /hour

Mileage
Outside Services As Invoiced   

Reimbursables

Administrative 

Technical
Technicians--CADD, Survey, Construction Observation

current IRS standard rate

Professional
Engineer, Landscape Architect, Land Surveyor, Legal, GIS, Environmental Scientist
Project Manager, Planner, Right-of-Way Agent, Graphic Designer

SNYDER & ASSOCIATES, INC.
2018-19

STANDARD FEE SCHEDULE

Billing RateBilling Classification/Level

447



FOTH INFRASTRUCTURE AND ENVIRONMENT, L.L.C
2018 STANDARD HOURLY RATE SCHEDULE

CLASSIFICATION
Director

Project Manager

Project Scientist

Project Engineer 

Staff Engineer 

Planner 

Technology Manager

Technician 

Construction Manager

Land Surveyor

Project Administrator

Administrative Assistant 

HOURLY RATE
$191.00

$160.00-$186.00

$110.00-$135.00

$134.00-$178.00

$108.00-$132.00

$108.00-$178.00

$155.00

$75.00-$134.00

$155.00

$125.00-$158.00

$75.00-$95.00

$60.00

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES
1. All materials and supplies used in the performance of work on this project will be billed at cost plus 10%.

2. Auto mileage will be reimbursed per the standard mileage reimbursement established by the Internal 
Revenue Service.  Service vehicle mileage will be reimbursed on the basis of $0.88 per mile.

3. Charges for outside services such as soils and materials testing, fiscal, legal will be billed at their invoice 
cost plus 15%.

4. All other direct expenses will be invoiced at cost plus 10%.

ADJUSTMENTS TO FEE SCHEDULE
1. Fee schedule effective January 1, 2018. Rates subject to change annually on January 1.

448



449



450



451



452



453



454



455



456



457



458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



474



475



476



477



478



479



480



481



482



 
Councilor Robert Green 

314 Olive Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

City Council Members           November 24, 2018 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Subject: Referral for a Five-Year Strategic Plan for the Public Safety Services Department 
 
Colleagues, 
 
During the November 5th, 2018 City Council Meeting and our Council Goal Setting work session, I                
floated the idea of developing a Five-Year Strategic Plan for the Public Safety Services Department. At                
the December 3rd, 2018 Council Meeting, I intend to follow up with this referral: 
 

“I move that staff prepare a proposal and timeline for creation of a Five-Year Public Safety                
Strategic Plan, to be adopted no later than December 2, 2019.” 

 
 The purpose of this strategic planning effort would be to: 
 

1. Identify the various existing departmental strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats which           
necessitate operational and administrative changes within the Public Safety Department;  

2. Articulate a vision for how the Public Safety Department will look in five years;  

3. Express the core values which will be followed while working toward that vision;  

4. Develop overarching goals, long-range objectives, mid-range strategies, and short-term actions          
which will be (or are already being) carried out to achieve this vision; 

5. List specific performance metrics which will enable stakeholders gauge progress; 

6. Publish a council-approved Strategic Plan in publicly-accessible language for transparency and           
accountability to our stakeholders (residents, staff, interagency partners, and others).  

As a model, Olympia, WA created a police strategic plan (bit.ly/olympiapdstratplan) showing the level of               
detail I which believe would be appropriate for our needs. At 28 pages, it serves as an excellent                  
communication and accountability tool. Rogers, AR has another good example for their fire department, at               
32 pages (bit.ly/rogersarstratplan). As these documents show, a Strategic Plan isn’t a full accounting of all                
operations, staffing, and funding; instead, it focuses on a few major areas of change. I believe a similar                  
plan would be a vital tool for our community, stakeholders, and first responders, and hope you will agree.  

Very respectfully, 

 
Robert Green 
Cedar Falls City Council (At Large) 
 
Cc:  Mayor James Brown, Administrator Ron Gaines, Jacque Danielsen (City Clerk) 
 

483


	Top
	1. City Council Minutes 11-19-18
	181119MINUTES.doc

	2. Mayor Pro Tem and Chair of Admin Committee
	Appt Mayor Pro Tem &amp;amp; Admin Com Chair 2019.docx

	3. Appts-confirmed
	1-Appts.docx
	2-P&amp;Z - Larson 10-8-18 (scanned version).pdf

	4. Committee of the Whole minutes
	Comm of the Whole 11 19 18-final.doc

	5. Committee of the Whole work session minutes
	Council Work Session 11 19 18-final.doc

	6. Monthly Report - October 2018
	Monthly Report - October 2018.pdf

	7. Public Safety Officer Civil Service certified list - 11/28/18
	PublicSafetyOfficer-CertList11-2018.pdf

	8. Liquor Beer
	Liquor Beer 11-29-18.doc

	9. Deed-Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program
	1-Memo-2703 Timothy Street Deed.doc
	2-Deed.pdf
	3-Deed Restriction.pdf

	10. 2019-21 Flood Buyout Leases
	2019-21 Flood Buyout Leases.pdf

	11. Umpires Contract 2019-2021
	1-Umpire Contract Memo.pdf
	2 Umpires Contract 2019-21.pdf

	12. Organized Crime Task Force Grant
	Organized Crime Task Force Grant.pdf

	13. W. 1st Street Acquisition
	1.council memo on w 1st street ROW acquisitions 9-13-18.docx
	2.W1stPropAcq181203.pdf
	3.1718_001.pdf
	4.1719_001.pdf
	5.1721_001.pdf
	6.1724_001.pdf
	7.1725_001.pdf

	14. 2017 Permeable Alley Project - Final (Matt)
	1. 2017 Permeable Alley Final Out.docx
	2. Final Pay Estimate.pdf
	3. Bonds.pdf
	4. Lien Waivers.pdf

	15. Levee Change Order #3 (Matt)
	1. Levee - Change Order.docx
	2. Levee Change Order #3.pdf

	16. Lakeshore Storm Sewer Analysis (Matt&apos;s)
	1. Professional Services Agreement Memo.docx
	2. Professional Service Agreement - Lakeshore Storm Sewer Analysis.pdf

	17. 924 Viking Easement (Matt)
	1. Memo 924 Easement.docx
	2. 924 Viking - Sanitary Easement.pdf

	18. Rabo - Maintenance &amp; Repair Agreement (Matt&apos;s)
	1. Memo - Rabo Maintenance and Repair.docx
	2. Rabo Maintenace and Repair Agreement.pdf

	19. ACOH LLC Maintenance &amp; Repair Agreement (Chase&apos;s)
	1. ACOH LLC - Threads.docx
	2. M&amp;amp;R Agreement.pdf

	20. 2018 Street Construction - Change Order #3 (Chase&apos;s)
	1. Change Order #3.docx
	2. CO#3.pdf

	21. CBD site plan - 209 State Street
	1. CC staff report - 209 State Street.docx
	2. Letter of intent.docx

	22. Asbestos Removal - 2703 Timothy Street
	1_Staff Memo to Council 12-03-18.docx
	2_Advanced Environmental Asbestos Removal Contract.pdf

	23. PC-2 Site Plan - 936 Viking Rd
	1_Gym Outbuilding #1 Site Plan Review Memo to City Council on 12-03-18.docx
	2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3_Overall Site Layout.pdf
	4_936 Viking Rd Site Plan.pdf
	5_Building Plans.pdf
	6_Landscape Plan.pdf

	24. Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC Development Agreement
	1_Council Memo Midland Atlantic Developmental Procedures Agreement 11-19-18.docx
	2_FINAL Midland Atlantic Development Agreement w Escrow Agreement.docx
	3_Site Plan.pdf
	4_City Engineer&amp;#39;s Memo-Henry Traffic Study.docx

	25. PSA Engineering Services (Stephanie)
	1-Council memo-General Eng. Serv-Snyder 12-3-18.docx
	2-PSA_withAttachments_2019-11-28_2019EngineeringServices AP Ver.pdf

	26. Bills
	Daily Invoices 120318.pdf
	Council Invoices 120318.pdf

	27. Green Strategic Plan Referral
	GreenR_StrategicPlanReferral_2018-11-29.pdf

	28. Exec Session for Prop Acq
	Bottom

